
 
 
 
 
 
 

Ridgewood Trails 
Community Development District 

 
 
 

November 6, 2024 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

AGENDA 
 



   Ridgewood Trails  
  Community Development District 
  475 West Town Place 
  Suite 114  
  St. Augustine, Florida 32092 
  District Website:  www.ridgewoodtrailscdd.com 

 
October 30, 2024 
 
 
Board of Supervisors 
Ridgewood Trails Community Development District 
 
Dear Board Members: 
 
The Ridgewood Trails Community Development District Meeting is scheduled for 
Wednesday, November 6, 2024 at 6:00 p.m. at the Azalea Ridge Amenity Center, 
1667 Azalea Ridge Boulevard, Middleburg, Florida 32068.  
Following is the advance agenda for the meeting: 

 
  
 I. Roll Call 
 
 II. Public Comments (for agenda items listed below) 
  
 III. Consideration of Resolution 2025-01, Classifying Surplus Property and 

Disposition (sale of treadmills)  
 
 IV. Acceptance of Fiscal Year 2023 Audit Report 
 
 V. Ratification of Agreement with Coastal Sheds, LLC 
 
 VI. Discussion of Suspension Letter 
 
 VII. Discussion of Parking & Towing Policy 
 
 VIII. Staff Reports 
  A. Attorney  
 
 B.  Engineer  
         
 C.  Manager  
 
 D.  Operation Manager 

http://www.ridgewoodtrailscdd.com/


  
 E.  Amenity Manager  
   1. Report 
 
   2. Landscape Inspection Report 
 
 IX. Supervisor’s Requests and Public Comments 
 
 X. Approval of Consent Agenda 
  A. Approval of the Minutes of the September 4, 2024 Meeting 
 
  B. Balance Sheet & Income Statement 
 
 C. Assessment Receipt Schedule  
 
 D.  Approval of Check Register 
  
 X. Next Meeting Scheduled for:  January 8, 2025 @ 6:00 p.m. at the Azalea Ridge 

Amenity Center  
 
 XI. Adjournment 
 
 
Board Oversight 
Supervisor Edson – Landscape 
Supervisor Genska – Security & Technology 
Supervisor Shroyer – Maintenance 
Supervisor Miller – Athletics 
Supervisor Wetherbee - Aquatics 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

THIRD ORDER OF BUSINESS 
  



4853-8622-1044.1  

RESOLUTION 2025-01 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
RIDGEWOOD TRAILS COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
CLASSIFYING SURPLUS TANGIBLE PERSONAL PROPERTY; 
AUTHORIZING DISPOSITION OF SURPLUS TANGIBLE PERSONAL 
PROPERTY PURSUANT TO F.S. § 274.06; PROVIDING A 
SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, the Ridgewood Trails Community Development District (“District”) is a local 
unit of special-purpose government established pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, for 
the purpose of providing, operating and maintaining infrastructure improvements, facilities and 
services to the lands within the District; and 

WHEREAS, as such, the District is a governmental unit within the meaning of Chapter 274, 
Florida Statutes (“Governmental Unit”); and 

WHEREAS, the District has purchased and owns certain equipment, furniture, and/or 
other personal property as listed in more detail in the attached Exhibit A (“Surplus Property”); 
and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to classify the Property as surplus tangible personal 
property, and to determine that the Property is obsolete and that continued use of the Property 
is uneconomical, inefficient to maintain, and/or serves no useful function; and 

WHEREAS, the District has considered the best interests of the District, and the value and 
condition of the Property, and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to dispose of the Property for value to any person, or for 
value without bids to the state, to any Governmental Unit, or to any political subdivision as 
defined in Section 1.01, Florida Statutes; or, if neither sale nor donation can reasonably be 
accomplished, the District hereby determines that the Property is without commercial value and 
desires to destroy or abandon it, all in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 274, Florida 
Statutes; and 

WHEREAS, the District believes that disposing of the Property in this fashion is the most 
efficient and cost-effective means of disposing of the Property; and 

WHEREAS, the District has estimated the value of the Property to be less than Five 
Thousand Dollars ($5,000), or without commercial value; and 

 



4853-8622-1044.1  

WHEREAS, the District believes that it is in its best interests to dispose of the Property in 
this fashion. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
RIDGEWOOD TRAILS COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT: 

SECTION 1. INCORPORATION OF RECITALS. All of the representations, findings and 
determinations contained within the recitals stated above are recognized as true and accurate 
and are expressly incorporated into this Resolution. 

SECTION 2. CLASSIFICATION OF SURPLUS TANGIBLE PERSONAL PROPERTY. The 
District hereby classifies the Property as surplus tangible personal property, and hereby 
determines that the continued use of the Property is uneconomical, inefficient to maintain, 
and/or serves no useful function. 

SECTION 3. DISPOSITION OF SURPLUS TANGIBLE PERSONAL PROPERTY. The District 
hereby directs and authorizes staff to dispose of the Property for value to any person, or for value 
without bids to the state, to any Governmental Unit, or to any political subdivision as defined in 
Section 1.01, Florida Statutes; or, if neither sale nor donation can reasonably be accomplished, by 
destroying or abandoning it, all in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 274, Florida Statutes. 
Staff may dispose of the respective pieces of Property to different persons, at different times. 
Although referenced jointly, it is the intent of the District to dispose of the Property separately to the 
extent it is in the best interest of the District. 

SECTION 4. SEVERABILITY. The invalidity or unenforceability of any one or more 
provisions of this Resolution shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining 
portions of this Resolution, or any part thereof. 

SECTION 5. EFFECTIVE DATE. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon the 
passage and adoption of this Resolution by the Board of Supervisors of the District. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 6th day of November 2024. 

ATTEST: RIDGEWOOD TRAILS COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

Secretary/Assistant Secretary    Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 

 



4853-8622-1044.1  

Exhibit A 
Surplus Property 

 

[Treadmills] 
 
 

Reason for disposal: the equipment is obsolete and will be replaced with a 
new model  

 
f[District Staff to add estimated value of surplus property] 

 
 
 

 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FOURTH ORDER OF BUSINESS 
  



 
 

Ridgewood Trails 
Community Development District 

 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 

 
September 30, 2023  

 



 

Ridgewood Trails Community Development District 
 

ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 
 

September 30, 2023  
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 

  Page 
  Number 
 

 
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 1-3 
 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 4-9 
 
BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 Government-wide Financial Statements  
  Statement of Net Position                                                                                            10 
  Statement of Activities 11 
 Fund Financial Statements 
  Balance Sheet – Governmental Funds 12 
  Reconciliation of Total Governmental Fund Balances 
   to Net Position of Governmental Activities 13 
  Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in 
   Fund Balances – Governmental Funds 14 
  Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures  
   and Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds 
   to the Statement of Activities 15 
  Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund 
   Balances – Budget and Actual – General Fund 16 
 
 Notes to Financial Statements 17-30 
 
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 

FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS 
BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN  
ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 31-32 

 
MANAGEMENT LETTER 33-36 
 
INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT/COMPLIANCE WITH  
      SECTION 218.415, FLORIDA STATUTES 37 
 
 
 



- 1 - 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS  
 
 
To the Board of Supervisors 
Ridgewood Trails Community Development District 
Clay County, Florida 
 
 
Report on Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities and each major fund of 
Ridgewood Trails Community Development District (the “District”), as of and for the year ended 
September 30, 2023, and the related notes to financial statements, which collectively comprise 
the District’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.   
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the governmental activities and each major fund of Ridgewood 
Trails Community Development District as of September 30, 2023, and the respective changes in 
financial position and the budgetary comparison for the General Fund for the year then ended in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.   
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America (GAAS), and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in 
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.  Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.  We are required to be independent of 
the District and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical 
requirements relating to our audits.  We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.   
 
Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; and 
for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 
  



- 2 -  

 
To the Board of Supervisors 
Ridgewood Trails Community Development District 
 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are 
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the District’s  
ability to continue as a going concern for one year beyond the financial statement date, including 
currently known information that may raise substantial doubt thereafter. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not 
absolute assurance and therefore, is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
GAAS and Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists.  The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  Misstatements are considered material if 
there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the 
judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we:  
 

• Exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the 
audit.   

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.  
Such procedures include examining on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements.   

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control.  Accordingly, 
no such opinion is expressed.   

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall 
presentation of the financial statements.   

• Conclude whether, in our judgement, there are conditions or events, considered in the 
aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the District’s ability to continue as a going 
concern for a reasonable period of time.   

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal 
control related matters that we identified during the audit.   
  



- 3 -  

To the Board of Supervisors 
Ridgewood Trails Community Development District 
 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis be presented to supplement the basic financial 
statements.  Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the 
basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who 
considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements 
in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.  We have applied certain limited 
procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management 
about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency 
with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other 
knowledge obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.  We do not express an 
opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not 
provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued a report dated October 
10, 2024 on our consideration of the District’s internal control over financial reporting and on our 
tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations and contracts. 
 
The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the District’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.  That 
report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards 
in considering Ridgewood Trails Community Development District’s internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance. 
 
 
 
 
 
Berger, Toombs, Elam, Gaines & Frank 
Certified Public Accountants PL 
Fort Pierce, Florida 
 
October 10, 2024 

audit
Firm Signature



Ridgewood Trails Community Development District 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 

- 4 -

Management’s discussion and analysis of Ridgewood Trails Community Development District’s 
(the “District”) financial performance provides an objective and easily readable analysis of the 
District’s financial activities.  The analysis provides summary financial information for the District 
and should be read in conjunction with the District’s financial statements.  

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The District’s basic financial statements comprise three components; 1) Government-wide 
financial statements, 2) Fund financial statements, and 3) Notes to financial statements.  The 
Government-wide financial statements present an overall picture of the District’s financial 
position and results of operations.  The Fund financial statements present financial information 
for the District’s major funds.  The Notes to financial statements provide additional information 
concerning the District’s finances. 

The Government-wide financial statements are the statement of net position and the 
statement of activities.  These statements use accounting methods similar to those used by 
private-sector companies.  Emphasis is placed on the net position of governmental activities 
and the change in net position.  Governmental activities are primarily supported by special 
assessments. 

The statement of net position presents information on all assets and liabilities of the District, 
with the difference between assets and liabilities reported as net position.  Net position is 
reported in three categories; 1) net investment in capital assets, 2) restricted, and 3) 
unrestricted.  Assets, liabilities, and net position are reported for all Governmental activities. 

The statement of activities presents information on all revenues and expenses of the District 
and the change in net position.  Expenses are reported by major function and program revenues 
relating to those functions are reported, providing the net cost of all functions provided by the 
District.  To assist in understanding the District’s operations, expenses have been reported as 
governmental activities.  Governmental activities financed by the District include general 
government, physical environment, culture/recreation and debt service. 

Fund financial statements present financial information for governmental funds.  These 
statements provide financial information for the major funds of the District.  Governmental fund 
financial statements provide information on the current assets and liabilities of the funds, 
changes in current financial resources (revenues and expenditures), and current available 
resources. 



Ridgewood Trails Community Development District 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 
 
 

- 5 - 

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Fund financial statements include a balance sheet and a statement of revenues, 
expenditures and changes in fund balances for all governmental funds.  A statement of 
revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances – budget and actual is provided for 
the District’s General Fund.  Fund financial statements provide more detailed information about 
the District’s activities.  Individual funds are established by the District to track revenues that are 
restricted to certain uses or to comply with legal requirements. 
 
The government-wide financial statements and the fund financial statements provide different 
pictures of the District.  The government-wide financial statements provide an overall picture of 
the District’s financial standing.  These statements are comparable to private-sector companies 
and give a good understanding of the District’s overall financial health and how the District paid 
for the various activities, or functions, provided by the District.  All assets of the District, 
including capital assets are reported in the statement of net position.  All liabilities, including 
principal outstanding on bonds are included.  The statement of activities includes depreciation 
on all long lived assets of the District, but transactions between the different functions of the 
District have been eliminated in order to avoid “doubling up” the revenues and expenses.  The 
fund financial statements provide a picture of the major funds of the District.  In the case of 
governmental activities, outlays for long lived assets are reported as expenditures and long-term 
liabilities, such as general obligation bonds, are not included in the fund financial statements.  
To provide a link from the fund financial statements to the government-wide financial 
statements, a reconciliation is provided from the fund financial statements to the government-
wide financial statements. 
 
Notes to financial statements provide additional detail concerning the financial activities and 
financial balances of the District.  Additional information about the accounting practices of the 
District, investments of the District, capital assets and long-term debt are some of the items 
included in the notes to financial statements. 
 
Financial Highlights 
 
The following are the highlights of the financial activity for the year ended September 30, 2023. 
 

♦ The District’s total assets exceeded total liabilities by $2,558,560 (net position).  
Unrestricted net position for Governmental Activities was $373,716. Restricted net 
position was $2,952. Net investment in capital assets was $2,181,892.    
 

♦ Governmental activities revenues totaled $588,517 while governmental activities 
expenses totaled $654,689. 

 
 
 



Ridgewood Trails Community Development District 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 
 
 

- 6 - 

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Financial Analysis of the District 
 
The following schedule provides a summary of the assets, liabilities and net position of the 
District and is presented by category for comparison purposes.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
The increase in current assets is primarily related to revenues exceeding expenditures at the 
fund level in the current year. 
 
The decrease in capital assets is mainly related to current year depreciation. 
 
The decrease in net position is related to expenses exceeding revenues. 
 
 

2023 2022

Current assets  $     390,719  $     353,165 
Restricted assets           16,051           14,557 
Capital assets      2,315,050      2,429,879 

     Total Assets      2,721,820      2,797,601 

Current liabilities           28,876           29,690 
Non-current liabilities         134,384         143,179 

     Total Liabilities         163,260         172,869 

Net position - net investment 
    in capital assets      2,181,892      2,287,523 
Net position - restricted             2,952 1,730            
Net position - unrestricted         373,716         335,479 

     Total Net Position  $  2,558,560  $  2,624,732 

Net Position

Governmental  Activities



Ridgewood Trails Community Development District 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 
 
 

- 7 - 

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Financial Analysis of the District (Continued) 
 
The following schedule provides a summary of the changes in net position of the District and is 
presented by category for comparison purposes. 
 

2023 2022
Program Revenues
   Charges for services 568,922$      434,497$      
General Revenues
   Miscellaneous revenues              8,650              8,314 

Investment earnings            10,945              1,501 
      Total Revenues          588,517          444,312 

Expenses
   General government            96,814            89,927 
   Physical environment          304,853          272,568 
   Culture/recreation          244,747          221,501 
   Interest and other charges              8,275              8,403 
      Total Expenses          654,689          592,399 

Change in Net Position (66,172)         (148,087)       

Net Position - Beginning of Year 2,624,732     2,772,819     

Net Position - End of Year 2,558,560$   2,624,732$   

Governmental  Activities

Change in Net Position

 
The increase in charges for services is related to the increase in special assessments in the 
current year. 
 
The increase in physical environment is related to the increase in landscape maintenance 
expenses in the current year. 
 
The increase in culture/recreation is related to the increase in pool chemicals expense in the 
current year. 
 



Ridgewood Trails Community Development District 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 

- 8 -

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

Capital Assets Activity 

The following schedule provides a summary of the District’s capital assets activity as of 
September 30, 2023 and 2022: 

2023 2022
Buildings and improvements 571,641$          571,641$       
Infrastructure 2,690,994         2,690,994      
Equipment 124,011            124,011         
Accumulated depreciation (1,071,596)        (956,767)        

Capital assets, net 2,315,050$       2,429,879$    

Governmental Activities
Description

Depreciation was $114,829 in the current year. 

General Fund Budgetary Highlights 

Budgeted expenditures exceeded actual expenditures primarily due to lower security system, 
and special events expenditures than were anticipated. 

The September 30, 2023 budget was amended for repairs and maintenance and landscape 
expenditures that were more than originally anticipated. 

Debt Management 

Governmental Activities debt includes the following: 

• In June 2007, the District issued $8,305,000 Series 2007A Capital Improvement
Revenue Bonds.  These bonds were issued to fund certain infrastructure facilities for the
benefit of the District.  As of September 30, 2023, the balance outstanding was
$130,000.

• In December 2021, the District entered into a financed purchase agreement of $19,419,
for security equipment. The balance outstanding at September 30, 2023 was $13,459.

Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budget 

Ridgewood Trails Community Development District does not expect any economic factors to 
have any significant effect on the financial position or results of operations of the District in fiscal 
year 2024. 



Ridgewood Trails Community Development District 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 
 
 

- 9 - 

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Request for Information 
 
The financial report is designed to provide a general overview of Ridgewood Trails Community 
Development District’s finances for all those with an interest.  Questions concerning any of the 
information provided in this report or requests for additional information should be addressed to 
the Ridgewood Trails Community Development District, Governmental Management Services, 
475 West Town Place, Suite 114, St. Augustine, Florida 32092. 



Governmental
Activities

ASSETS
Current Assets:
   Cash and cash equivalents 193,168$         
   Investments 165,890           

Due from others 4,933                
   Prepaid expenses 23,925             
   Deposits 2,803                
         Total Current Assets 390,719           
Non-current Assets:
   Restricted assets:
      Investments 16,051             
   Capital assets being depreciated
      Buildings and improvements 571,641           
      Infrastructure 2,690,994        
      Equipment 124,011           
      Accumulated depreciation (1,071,596)       
         Total Non-current Assets 2,331,101        
            Total Assets 2,721,820        

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities:
  Accounts payable 17,003             
  Accrued interest payable 3,060                
  Financed purchase payable 3,813                
  Bonds payable 5,000                
         Total Current Liabilities 28,876             
Non-current Liabilities:
  Financed purchase payable 9,646                
  Bonds payable, net 124,738           
         Total Non-current liabilities 134,384           
            Total Liabilities 163,260           

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 2,181,892        
Restricted-debt service 1,803                
Restricted-capital projects 1,149                
Unrestricted 373,716           
           Total Net Position 2,558,560$      

Ridgewood Trails Community Development District
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

September 30, 2023

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
- 10 -



Net (Expense)
Revenues and

Program Changes in
Revenues Net Position

Charges for Governmental
Functions/Programs Expenses Services Activities
Primary government
Governmental Activities
    General government (96,814)$       101,175$           4,361$            
    Physical environment (304,853)       225,072             (79,781)           
    Culture/recreation (244,747)       229,286             (15,461)           
    Interest and other charges (8,275)           13,389 5,114              
Total Governmental Activities (654,689)$     568,922$           (85,767)           

General revenues:
Miscellaneous revenues 8,650              
Investment earnings 10,945            

      Total General Revenues 19,595            

Change in Net Position (66,172)           

Net Position - October 1, 2022 2,624,732       
Net Position - September 30, 2023 2,558,560$     

Ridgewood Trails Community Development District
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

For the Year Ended September 30, 2023

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
- 11 -



Total
Debt Capital Governmental

ASSETS General Service Projects Funds

Cash and cash equivalents 193,168$    -$                -$                193,168$      
Investments 165,890      -                  -                  165,890        
Due from others 4,933          -                  -                  4,933            
Prepaid expenses 23,925        -                  -                  23,925          
Deposits 2,803          -                  -                  2,803            
Restricted assets:

Investments -                  14,902        1,149          16,051          
Total Assets 390,719$    14,902$      1,149$        406,770$      

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 17,003$      -$                -$                17,003$        

FUND BALANCES
Nonspendable-prepaids/deposits 26,728        -                  -                  26,728          
Restricted for:

Debt service -                  14,902        -                  14,902          
Capital projects -                  -                  1,149          1,149            

Assigned for capital reserves 180,411      -                  -                  180,411        
Unassigned 166,577      -                  -                  166,577        

Total Fund Balances 373,716      14,902        1,149          389,767        
   Total Liabilities and Fund Balances 390,719$    14,902$      1,149$        406,770$      

Ridgewood Trails Community Development District
BALANCE SHEET –

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
September 30, 2023

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
- 12 -



Total Governmental Fund Balances 389,767$           

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Net Position
are different because:

$571,641, and equipment, $124,011, net of accumulated depreciation,  
$(1,071,596), used in governmental activities are not current financial 
resources; and therefore, are not reported at the fund level. 2,315,050

discount, net, $262, and financed purchase payable, $(13,459), are not  
due and payable in the current period; therefore, are not reported at the
fund level. (143,197)            

Accrued interest expense for long-term debt is not a current financial use;
therefore, it is not reported at the governmental fund level. (3,060)                

Net Position of Governmental Activities 2,558,560$        

Capital assets,  infrastructure, $2,690,994, buildings and improvements,

Ridgewood Trails Community Development District
RECONCILIATION OF TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL FUND BALANCES

TO NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES
September 30, 2023

Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable, $(130,000), net of net bond 

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
- 13 -



Total
Debt Capital Governmental

General Service Projects Funds
Revenues
    Special assessments 555,533$   13,389$        -$                  568,922$       
    Miscellaneous revenues 8,650         -                    -                    8,650             
    Investment earnings 10,212       697               36                 10,945           
            Total Revenues 574,395     14,086          36                 588,517         

Expenditures
    Current   
       General government 96,814       -                    -                    96,814           
       Physical environment 215,369     -                    -                    215,369         
       Culture/recreation 219,402     -                    -                    219,402         
    Debt service
       Principal 3,633         5,000            -                    8,633             
       Interest 747            7,628            -                    8,375             
            Total Expenditures 535,965     12,628          -                    548,593         

Excess of revenues over/(under)
expenditures 38,430       1,458            36                 39,924           

Other Financing Sources/(Uses)
Transfers in -                 -                    1,113            1,113             
Transfers out -                 (1,113)           -                    (1,113)            

Total Other Financing Sources/(Uses) -                 (1,113)           1,113            -                     

Net Change in Fund Balances 38,430       345               1,149            39,924           

Fund Balances - October 1, 2022 335,286     14,557          -                    349,843         

Fund Balances - September 30, 2023 373,716$   14,902$        1,149$          389,767$       

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES
Ridgewood Trails Community Development District

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023

 AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES –

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
- 14 -



Net Change in Fund Balances - Total Governmental Funds 39,924$         

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities are
different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.  However, at the
government-wide level, the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated
useful lives as depreciation.  This is the amount of depreciation 
in the current year. (114,829)        

Payment of long-term liabilities are reported as expenditures in the
governmental fund statements but such repayments reduce long-term liabilities in the
Statement of Net Position. 8,633

Amortization expense of bond discounts does not require the use of current
resources and therefore, is not reported at the governmental funds level.  
This is the amount of amortization in the current period. (18)                 

In the Statement of Activities, interest is accrued on outstanding bonds;

118                

Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities (66,172)$        

due.  This is the change in accrued interest from the prior year.
whereas at the governmental funds level, interest expenditures are reported when 

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE

Ridgewood Trails Community Development District
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
- 15 -



Variance with 
Final Budget

Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)

Revenues
Special assessments 554,270$  555,533$  555,533$  -$                   
Miscellaneous revenues 500           3,600        8,650        5,050             
Interest earnings 450           12,833      10,212      (2,621)            

Total Revenues 555,220    571,966    574,395    2,429             

Expenditures
Current

General government 102,674    102,777    96,814      5,963             
Physical environment 203,852    218,382    215,369    3,013             
Culture/recreation 223,519    218,357    219,402    (1,045)            

Capital outlay 64,500      64,500      -                64,500           
Debt Service

Principal -                -                3,633        (3,633)            
Interest -                -                747           (747)               

Total Expenditures 594,545    604,016    535,965    68,051           

Net Change in Fund Balances (39,325)     (32,050)     38,430      70,480           

Fund Balances - October 1, 2022 180,647    336,357    335,286    (1,071)            
 

Fund Balances - September 30, 2023 141,322$  304,307$  373,716$  69,409$         
 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2023

Ridgewood Trails Community Development District
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES – BUDGET AND ACTUAL –
GENERAL FUND

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

- 16 -



Ridgewood Trails Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

September 30, 2023 
 
 

- 17 - 

NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The financial statements of the District have been prepared in conformity with generally 
accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as applied to governmental units.  The Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing 
governmental accounting and financial reporting principles.  The District's more significant 
accounting policies are described below. 
 
1. Reporting Entity 
 

The District was established on October 11, 2005, pursuant to the Uniform Community 
Development District Act of 1980, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes and Clay County, Florida 
Ordinance 2005-47.  The District was established for the purposes of financing and 
managing the acquisition, construction, maintenance and operation of the infrastructure 
necessary for community development within its jurisdiction.  The District is authorized to 
issue bonds for the purpose, among others, of financing, funding, planning, establishing, 
acquiring, constructing or re-constructing, enlarging or extending, equipping, operating and 
maintaining water management, bridges or culverts, district roads, landscaping, street lights 
and other basic infrastructure projects within or without the boundaries of the Ridgewood 
Trails Community Development District.  The District is governed by a five-member Board of 
Supervisors. The District operates within the criteria established by Chapter 190, Florida 
Statutes.   
 
As required by GAAP, these financial statements present the Ridgewood Trails Community 
Development District (the primary government) as a stand-alone government. The reporting 
entity for the District includes all functions of government in which the District’s Board 
exercises oversight responsibility including, but not limited to, financial interdependency, 
selection of governing authority, designation of management, significant ability to influence 
operations and accountability for fiscal matters.   
 
Based upon the application of the above-mentioned criteria as set forth by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board, the District has identified no component units. 
 

2.  Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting 
 

The basic financial statements of the District are composed of the following: 
 

• Government-wide financial statements 
 

• Fund financial statements 
 

• Notes to financial statements 
 
 



Ridgewood Trails Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

September 30, 2023 
 
 

- 18 - 

NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

2.  Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting (Continued) 
 
  a. Government-wide Financial Statements 
 

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources 
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Government-wide financial 
statements report all non-fiduciary information about the reporting government as a 
whole. These statements include all the governmental activities of the primary 
government.  The effect of interfund activity has been removed from these statements. 
 
Governmental activities are supported by special assessments.  Program revenues 
include charges for services and payments made by parties outside of the reporting 
government’s citizenry if that money is restricted to a particular program.  Program 
revenues are netted with program expenses in the Statement of Activities to present the 
net cost of each program. 
 
Amounts paid to acquire capital assets are capitalized as assets, rather than reported as 
an expenditure.  Proceeds of long-term debt are recorded as liabilities in the 
government-wide financial statements, rather than as an other financing source. 
 
Amounts paid to reduce long-term indebtedness of the reporting government are 
reported as a reduction of the related liability, rather than as an expenditure. 

 
  b. Fund Financial Statements 
 

The underlying accounting system of the District is organized and operated on the basis 
of separate funds, each of which is considered to be a separate accounting entity.  The 
operations of each fund are accounted for with a separate set of self-balancing accounts 
that comprise its assets, liabilities, fund equity, revenues and expenditures or expenses, 
as appropriate.  Governmental resources are allocated to and accounted for in individual 
funds based upon the purposes for which they are to be spent and the means by which 
spending activities are controlled. 
 
Fund financial statements for the primary government’s governmental funds are 
presented after the government-wide financial statements.  These statements display 
information about major funds individually. 

 



Ridgewood Trails Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

September 30, 2023 
 
 

- 19 - 

NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

2.  Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting (Continued) 
 
  b. Fund Financial Statements (Continued) 

 
Governmental Funds 
 
The District implemented the Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement 54 
– Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Type Definitions. The Statement 
requires the fund balance for governmental funds to be reported in classifications that 
comprise a hierarchy based primarily on the extent to which the government is bound to 
honor constraints on the specific purposes for which amounts in those funds can be 
spent. 
 
The District has various policies governing the fund balance classifications. 
 
Nonspendable Fund Balance – This classification consists of amounts that cannot be 
spent because they are either not in spendable form or are legally or contractually 
required to be maintained intact. 
 
Restricted Fund Balance – This classification includes amounts that can be spent only 
for specific purposes stipulated by constitution, external resource providers, or through 
enabling legislation. 
 
Assigned Fund Balance – This classification consists of the Board of Supervisors’ intent 
to be used for specific purposes, but are neither restricted nor committed.  The assigned 
fund balances can also be assigned by the District’s management company. 
 
Unassigned Fund Balance – This classification is the residual classification for the 
government’s general fund and includes all spendable amounts not contained in the 
other classifications.   
 
Fund Balance Spending Hierarchy – For all governmental funds except special revenue 
funds, when restricted, committed, assigned, and unassigned fund balances are 
combined in a fund, qualified expenditures are paid first from restricted or committed 
fund balance, as appropriate, then assigned and finally unassigned fund balances. 
 
Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual 
accounting.  Interest associated with the current fiscal period is considered to be an 
accrual item and so has been recognized as revenue of the current fiscal period.   
 
Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial 
resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues 
are considered to be available when they are collected within the current period or soon 
thereafter, to pay liabilities of the current period.  For this purpose, the District considers 
revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the current 
fiscal period. 



Ridgewood Trails Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

September 30, 2023 
 
 

- 20 - 

NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

2.  Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting (Continued) 
 
  b. Fund Financial Statements (Continued) 

 
Governmental Funds (Continued) 
 
Under the current financial resources measurement focus, only current assets and 
current liabilities are generally included on the balance sheet.  The reported fund 
balance is considered to be a measure of “available spendable resources”.  
Governmental fund operating statements present increases (revenues and other 
financing sources) and decreases (expenditures and other financing uses) in net current 
assets.  Accordingly, they are said to present a summary of sources and uses of 
“available spendable resources” during a period. 
 
Because of their spending measurement focus, expenditure recognition for 
governmental fund types excludes amounts represented by non-current liabilities.  Since 
they do not affect net current assets, such long-term amounts are not recognized as 
governmental fund type expenditures or fund liabilities. 
 
Amounts expended to acquire capital assets are recorded as expenditures in the year 
that resources are expended, rather than as fund assets.  The proceeds of long-term 
debt are recorded as an other financing source rather than as a fund liability. 
 
Debt service expenditures are recorded only when payment is due. 

 
3.  Basis of Presentation 
 

a. Governmental Major Funds 
 

General Fund – The General Fund is the District’s primary operating fund.  It accounts 
for all financial resources of the general government, except those required to be 
accounted for in another fund. 
 
Debt Service Fund – Accounts for debt service requirements to retire the capital 
improvement bonds which were used to finance the construction of District infrastructure 
improvements.   

 
Capital Projects Fund – The Capital Projects Fund accounts for acquisition and 
construction of infrastructure improvements located within the boundaries of the District.  

 
 

 



Ridgewood Trails Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

September 30, 2023 
 
 

- 21 - 

NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
  
3. Basis of Presentation (Continued) 

 
 b.  Non-current Governmental Assets/Liabilities 
 

GASB Statement 34 requires that non-current governmental assets, such as land and 
buildings, and non-current governmental liabilities, such as general obligation bonds, be 
reported in the governmental activities column in the government-wide Statement of Net 
position. 

 
4. Assets, Liabilities, and Net Position or Equity 
 
 a. Cash and Investments 
 

Florida Statutes require state and local governmental units to deposit monies with 
financial institutions classified as "Qualified Public Depositories," a multiple financial 
institution pool whereby groups of securities pledged by the various financial institutions 
provide common collateral from their deposits of public funds.  This pool is provided as 
additional insurance to the federal depository insurance and allows for additional 
assessments against the member institutions, providing full insurance for public 
deposits.  
 
The District is authorized to invest in those financial instruments as established by 
Section 218.415, Florida Statutes.  The authorized investments consist of: 

 
1. Direct obligations of the United States Treasury; 
2. The Local Government Surplus Funds Trust or any intergovernmental investment 

pool authorized pursuant to the Florida Interlocal Cooperative Act of 1969; 
3. Interest-bearing time deposits or savings accounts in authorized qualified public 

depositories; 
4. Securities and Exchange Commission registered money market funds with the 

highest credit quality rating from a nationally recognized rating agency. 
 

 b. Restricted Assets 
 

Certain net position of the District will be classified as restricted assets on the statement 
of net position because their use is limited either by law through constitutional 
provisions or enabling legislation; or by restrictions imposed externally by creditors.  In 
a fund with both restricted and unrestricted assets, qualified expenses are considered 
to be paid first from restricted net position and then from unrestricted net position. 
 



Ridgewood Trails Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

September 30, 2023 
 
 

- 22 - 

NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
4. Assets, Liabilities, and Net Position or Equity (Continued) 
  
 c. Capital Assets 
 

Capital assets, which include buildings and improvements, infrastructure and equipment, 
are reported in governmental activities. 
 

The District defines capital assets as assets with an initial, individual cost of $5,000 or 
more and an estimated useful life in excess of one year.  The valuation basis for all 
assets is historical cost.   
 
The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or 
materially extend its useful life are not capitalized. 
 
Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as projects are 
constructed. 
 
Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following 
estimated useful lives: 
 
 Infrastructure    30 years 
 Buildings and improvements    39 years 
 Equipment 3-10 years 

   
 d. Bond Discounts 
 

Bond discounts are amortized over the life of the bonds. 
 
 e. Budgets 
 

Budgets are prepared and adopted after public hearings for the governmental funds, 
pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes.  The District utilizes the same basis of 
accounting for budgets as it does for revenues and expenditures in its various funds.  
Formal budgets are adopted for the general fund.  The legal level of budgetary control is 
at the fund level.  All budgeted appropriations lapse at year end.  Formal budgets are 
adopted for the general and debt service funds.  As a result, deficits in the budget 
columns of the accompanying financial statements may occur. 
 

 f. Net Position 
 

Net position represents the difference between assets and liabilities and is reported in 
three categories.  Net investment in capital assets, represents capital assets, net of 
accumulated depreciation and any outstanding debt related to those assets. Net position 
is reported as restricted when there are legal limitations imposed on their use by 
legislation, or external restrictions imposed by other governments, creditors, or grantors.  
Unrestricted net position is assets that do not meet definitions of the classifications 
previously described. 



Ridgewood Trails Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

September 30, 2023 
 
 

- 23 - 

NOTE B – RECONCILIATION OF GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 

 
1. Explanation of Differences Between the Governmental Fund Balance Sheet and the 

Government-wide Statement of Net position 
 

“Total fund balances” of the District’s governmental funds, $389,767, differs from “net 
position” of governmental activities, $2,558,560, reported in the Statement of Net Position.  
This difference primarily results from the long-term economic focus of the Statement of Net 
position versus the current financial resources focus of the Governmental Fund Balance 
Sheet.  The effect of the differences is illustrated below. 
 
Capital related items 
 
When capital assets (construction in progress, infrastructure, buildings and improvements, 
and equipment that are to be used in governmental activities) are purchased or constructed, 
the cost of those assets is reported as expenditures in governmental funds.  However, the 
Statement of Net Position included those capital assets among the assets of the District as a 
whole. 

 
        Buildings and improvements     $        571,641  
        Infrastructure                                                                2,690,994  
  Equipment                 124,011  
             Accumulated depreciation                                      (1,071,596)  
                    Net Capital Assets        $     2,315,050       
 

Long-term debt transactions 
 
Long-term liabilities and the deferred amount on refunding applicable to the District’s 
governmental activities are not current uses or resources and accordingly are not reported 
at the fund level.  All uses and resources (both current and long-term) are reported in the 
Statement of Net Position.  Balances at September 30, 2023 were: 

    
  Bonds payable    $      (130,000)  
  Bond discount, net                    262  
  Financed purchase payable             (13,459)   

  Total    $      (143,197)  
 

Accrued interest 
 
Accrued liabilities in the Statement of Net Position differ from the amount reported in 
governmental funds due to the accrued interest on bonds. 

 
  Accrued interest       $           (3,060)  



Ridgewood Trails Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

September 30, 2023 
 
 

- 24 - 

NOTE B – RECONCILIATION OF GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

 
2. Explanation of Differences Between the Governmental Fund Operating Statements 

and the Statement of Activities 
 

The “net change in fund balances” for government funds, $39,924, differs from the “change 
in net position” for governmental activities, $(66,172), reported in the Statement of Activities.  
The differences arise primarily from the long-term economic focus of the Statement of 
Activities versus the current financial resources focus of the governmental funds.  The effect 
of the differences is illustrated below. 

 
Capital related items 
 
When capital assets that are to be used in governmental activities are purchased or 
constructed, the resources expended for those assets are reported as expenditures in 
governmental funds.  However, in the Statement of Activities, the costs of those assets are 
allocated over their estimated useful lives as depreciation. The loss on disposal of capital 
assets is recognized at the government-wide level. The following is the amount of 
depreciation in the current year. 

 
 Depreciation                                                   $        (114,829)  
 

Long-term debt transactions 
 
Repayment of long-term liabilities are reported as expenditures at the fund level but such 
repayments reduce liabilities at the government-wide level.   
 
  Debt principal payments      $             8,633   
 
Amortization of the bond discount does not require the use of current resources and 
therefore, is not reported at the fund level. 
 

  Bond discount amortization   $                 (18) 
  

Some expenses reported in the Statement of Activities do not require the use of current 
financial resources, therefore, are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds. 

 
  Change in accrued interest payable          $                118   
 
 



Ridgewood Trails Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

September 30, 2023 
 
 

- 25 - 

NOTE C – CASH AND INVESTMENTS  
 
All deposits are held in qualified public depositories and are included on the accompanying 
balance sheet as cash and investments. 
 
Custodial Credit Risk – Deposits 
 
Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the District's deposits may not 
be returned to it.  The District follows the provisions of Chapter 280, Florida Statutes regarding 
deposits and investments to manage custodial credit risk.  The District maintains all deposits in 
a qualified public depository, so that all deposits are fully insured by Federal Depositors 
Insurance or collateralized under Chapter 280, Florida Statutes.  As of September 30, 2023, the 
District's bank balance was $222,767 and the carrying value was $193,168.   
 
Investments 
 
As of September 30, 2023, the District had the following investments and maturities: 
 

      

Investment Maturities Fair Value

Florida PRIME 35 Days* 40,819$      
First American Treasury Obligation Fund 15 Days* 16,051        
U.S. Bank Money Market N/A 125,071      
                                Total 181,941$    

* Weighted Average Maturity
 

The District categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy recently 
established by generally accepted accounting principles. The fair value is the price that would 
be received to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a liability, in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs 
used to measure the fair value of the asset. The District uses a market approach in measuring 
fair value that uses prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions 
involving identical or similar assets, liabilities, or groups of assets and liabilities. 
 
Assets or liabilities are classified into one of three levels. Level 1 is the most reliable and is 
based on quoted price for identical assets, or liabilities, in an active market. Level 2 uses 
significant other observable inputs when obtaining quoted prices for identical or similar assets, 
or liabilities, in markets that are not active. Level 3 is the least reliable and uses significant 
unobservable inputs that use the best information available under the circumstances, which 
includes the District’s own data in measuring unobservable inputs. 
 
Based on the criteria in the preceding paragraph, the District’s investments in the U.S. Bank 
Money Market and First American Treasury Obligation Fund are Level 1 assets.  
 
 



Ridgewood Trails Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

September 30, 2023 
 
 

- 26 - 

NOTE C – CASH AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
The District’s investment policy allows management to invest funds in investments permitted 
under Section 218.415, Florida Statutes. The investment in Florida PRIME is measured at 
amortized cost. Florida PRIME has established policies and guidelines regarding participant 
transactions and the authority to limit or restrict withdrawals or impose a penalty for an early 
withdrawal. As of September 30, 2023, there were no redemption fees, maximum transaction 
amounts, or any other requirement that would limit daily access to 100 percent of the account 
value.   
 
Interest Rate Risk 
 
The District does not have a formal investment policy that limits investment maturities as a 
means of managing its exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates. 
 

Credit Risk 
 
The District's investments are limited by state statutory requirements and bond compliance.  
The District has no investment policy that would further limit its investment choices.  As of 
September 30, 2023, the District's investments in First American Treasury Obligation Fund and 
Florida PRIME were rated AAAm by Standard & Poor's. The District’s investment in U.S. Bank 
Money Market is not rated. 
  
Concentration of Credit Risk 
 
The District places no limit on the amount it may invest. The investments in U.S. Bank Money 
Market represent 69%, the investments in First American Treasury Obligation Fund represents 
9% and the investments in Florida PRIME represents 22% of the District’s total investments.  
 
The types of deposits and investments and their level of risk exposure as of September 30, 
2023 were typical of these items during the fiscal year then ended.  The District considers any 
decline in fair value for certain investments to be temporary.   
 
NOTE D – SPECIAL ASSESSMENT REVENUES 
 
Assessments are non-ad valorem assessments on benefitted property within the District.  
Operating and Maintenance Assessments are based upon adopted general fund budget and 
levied annually.  Debt Service Assessments are levied when bonds are issued and collected 
annually.  The District may collect assessments directly or utilize the uniform method of 
collection (Chapter 197.3632, Florida Statutes).  Direct collected assessments are due as 
determined by annual assessment resolution adopted by the Board of Supervisors.  
Assessments collected under the uniform method are mailed by the Clay County Tax Collector 
on November 1 and due on or before March 31 of each year.   
 

Assessments and interest associated with the current fiscal period are all considered to be 
susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period.  
Only the portion of assessments receivable due within the current fiscal period is considered to 
be susceptible to accrual as revenue of the current period.  All other revenue items are 
considered to be measurable and available only when cash is received by the government. 



Ridgewood Trails Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

September 30, 2023 
 
 

- 27 - 

NOTE E – CAPITAL ASSETS 
 
Capital Asset activity for the year ended September 30, 2023 was as follows: 

 

Depreciation of $89,484 was charged to physical environment and $25,345 was charged to 
culture/recreation. 

Balance Balance
October 1, September 30,

2022 Additions Deletions 2023
Governmental Activities:  
Capital assets, being depreciated:
   Infrastructure 2,690,994$       -$                   -$               2,690,994$       

Buildings and improvements 571,641            -                     -                 571,641            
Equipment 124,011            -                     -                 124,011            

Total Capital assets Depreciated 3,386,646         -                     -                 3,386,646         
Less accumulated depreciation for:
   Infrastructure (796,687)           (89,484)          -                 (886,171)           

Buildings and improvements (120,927)           (14,658)          -                 (135,585)           
Equipment (39,153)             (10,687)          -                 (49,840)             

Total Accumulated Depreciation (956,767)           (114,829)        -                 (1,071,596)        

Total Capital Assets Depreciated, Net 2,429,879$       (114,829)$      -$               2,315,050$       



Ridgewood Trails Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

September 30, 2023 
 
 

- 28 - 

NOTE F – LONG-TERM DEBT 
 
The following is a summary of debt activity for the District for the year ended September 30, 
2023: 
 
Long-term debt at October 1, 2022  $       135,000 
 
  Principal payments               (5,000)  
  
Long-term debt at September 30, 2023   $       130,000  
 
  Less: bond discount, net                  (262) 
 
   Bonds Payable, Net at September 30, 2023  $       129,738  
 
Long-term debt for Governmental Activities is comprised of the following: 
 
Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds 
 
$8,305,000 Series 2007A Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds 
are due in annual principal installments beginning May 2009 
maturing May 2038. Interest at a rate of 5.65% is due May and 
November. Current portion is $5,000.  $       130,000  
 
The annual requirements to amortize the principal and interest of bonded debt outstanding as of 
September 30, 2023 are as follows: 
 

Year Ending
September 30, Principal Interest Total

2024  $          5,000  $          7,345  $        12,345 
2025              5,000              7,063            12,063 
2026              5,000              6,780            11,780 
2027              5,000              6,498            11,498 
2028              5,000              6,215            11,215 

2029-2033            50,000            24,013            74,013 
2034-2038            55,000              9,886            64,886 

Totals  $      130,000  $        67,800  $      197,800 

 



Ridgewood Trails Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

September 30, 2023 
 
 

- 29 - 

NOTE F – LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 
 
Summary of Significant Bond Resolution Terms and Covenants 
 
Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds 
 
Significant Bond Provisions 
 
The Series 2007A Bonds are subject to redemption at the option of the District prior to their 
maturity, in whole or in part, at a redemption price set forth in the Trust Indenture. The Series 
2007A are subject to extraordinary mandatory redemption prior to maturity in the manner 
determined by the Bond Registrar if certain events occurred as outlined in the Trust Indenture.  
 
The Trust Indenture established certain amounts be maintained in a reserve account.  In 
addition, the Trust Indenture has certain restrictions and requirements relating principally to the 
use of proceeds to pay for the infrastructure improvements and the procedures to be followed 
by the District on assessments to property owners. The District agrees to levy special 
assessments in annual amounts adequate to provide payment of debt service and to meet the 
reserve requirements. 
 
Depository Funds 
 
The bond resolution establishes certain funds and determines the order in which revenues are 
to be deposited into these funds.  A description of the significant funds, including their purposes, 
is as follows: 
 
Reserve Funds – The Series 2007A Reserve Account was funded from the proceeds of the 
Series 2007A Bonds. Monies held in the reserve accounts will be used only for the purposes 
established in the Trust Indenture. 
 
The following is a schedule of required reserve balances as of September 30, 2023: 
 

Reserve Reserve
Balance Requirement

Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2007A 10,039$       15,000$       
 



Ridgewood Trails Community Development District 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

September 30, 2023 
 
 

- 30 - 

NOTE G – FINANCED PURCHASE 
 
During the year ended September 30, 2022, the District entered into a 60-month financed 
purchase agreement for security equipment in the amount of $19,419. The agreement has an 
end of finance purchase option which qualifies it as a financed purchase; therefore, the asset 
has been recorded at the present value of future minimum payments. 
 
The annual requirements to amortize principal and interest of the financed purchase as of 
September 30, 2023, were as follows: 
 

Year Ending
September 30, Amount

2024 4,380$                
2025 4,380                  
2026 4,380                  
2027 1,460                  

Total minimum lease payments 14,600                
Less: amount representing interest (1,141)                 
   Present value of minimum lease payments 13,459$              

  
NOTE H – RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
The District is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to and 
destruction of assets; errors and omissions; and natural disasters for which the government 
carries commercial insurance. There were no claims or settled claims from these risks that 
exceeded commercial insurance coverage in the last three years. 
 



- 31 -

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL 
REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT 

OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH 
GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

To the Board of Supervisors 
Ridgewood Trails Community Development District 
Clay County, Florida 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial 
statements, as listed in the table of contents, of Ridgewood Trails Community Development 
District, as of and for the year ended September 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, which collectively comprise the basic financial statements and have issued our 
report thereon dated October 10, 2024.  

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit, we considered Ridgewood Trails Community 
Development District's internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for 
designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of 
expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of Ridgewood Trails Community Development District’s internal 
control.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of Ridgewood Trails 
Community Development District's internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to 
prevent, or detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a 
deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented 
or detected and corrected on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet 
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph 
of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be 
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies.  Given these limitations, during our audit we did 
not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. 
However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that have not been 
identified. 



- 32 -

To the Board of Supervisors 
Ridgewood Trails Community Development District 

Report on Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Ridgewood Trails Community 
Development District's financial statements are free of material misstatement, we performed 
tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant 
agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance 
with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such 
an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters 
that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.  

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the entity’s internal control or on compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s 
internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other 
purpose. 

Berger, Toombs, Elam, Gaines & Frank 
Certified Public Accountants PL 
Fort Pierce, Florida 

October 10, 2024 

audit
Firm Signature



- 33 -

MANAGEMENT LETTER 

To the Board of Supervisors 
Ridgewood Trails Community Development District 
Clay County, Florida 

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the financial statements of the Ridgewood Trails Community Development 
District as of and for the year ended September 30, 2023, and have issued our report thereon 
dated October 10, 2024. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States and Chapter 10.550, Rules 
of the Florida Auditor General.   

Other Reporting Requirements 

We have issued our Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in 
Accordance with Government Auditing Standards and our Independent Auditor’s Report on an 
examination conducted in accordance with AICPA Professionals Standards, AT-C Section 315, 
regarding compliance requirements in accordance with Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Auditor 
General.  Disclosures in those reports, which are dated October 10, 2024, should be considered 
in conjunction with this management letter. 

Prior Audit Findings 

Section 10.554(1)(i)1., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we determine whether or not 
corrective actions have been taken to address findings and recommendations made in the 
preceding financial audit report.  There were no findings or recommendations in the preceding 
audit. 

Financial Condition and Management 

Section 10.554(1)(i)5.a. and 10.556(7), Rules of the Auditor General, require us to apply 
appropriate procedures and communicate the results of our determination as to whether or not 
Ridgewood Trails Community Development District has met one or more of the conditions 
described in Section 218.503(1), Florida Statutes, and to identify the specific conditions met.  In 
connection with our audit, we determined that Ridgewood Trails Community Development 
District did not meet any of the conditions described in Section 218.503(1), Florida Statutes.  



- 34 - 
 

To the Board of Supervisors 
Ridgewood Trails Community Development District 
 
Pursuant to Sections 10.554(1)(i)5.b. and 10.556(8), Rules of the Auditor General, we applied 
financial condition assessment procedures for Ridgewood Trails Community Development 
District.  It is management’s responsibility to monitor the Ridgewood Trails Community 
Development District’s financial condition; our financial condition assessment was based in part 
on the representations made by management and the review of the financial information 
provided by the same as of September 30, 2023.  
 
Section 10.554(1)(i)2., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we communicate any 
recommendations to improve financial management.  In connection with our audit, we did not 
have any such recommendations. 
 
Specific Information 
 
The information provided below was provided by management and has not been audited; 
therefore, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information. 
 
As required by Section 218.39(3)(c), Florida Statutes, and Section 10.554(1)(i)6, Rules of the 
Auditor General, the Ridgewood Trails Community Development District reported: 
 

1) The total number of District employees compensated in the last pay period of the 
District’s fiscal year: 4 

2) The total number of independent contractors to whom nonemployee compensation was 
paid in the last month of the District’s fiscal year: 13 

3) All compensation earned by or awarded to employees, whether paid or accrued, 
regardless of contingency: $4,802 

4) All compensation earned by or awarded to nonemployee independent contractors, 
whether paid or accrued, regardless of contingency: $541,572 

5) Each construction project with a total cost of at least $65,000 approved by the District 
that is scheduled to begin on or after October 1, 2022, together with the total 
expenditures for such project: The District did not have any construction projects. 

6) A budget variance based on the budget adopted under Section 189.016(4), Florida 
Statutes, before the beginning of the fiscal year being reported if the District amends a 
final adopted budget under Section 189.016(6), Florida Statutes: The budget was 
amended, see below.  
 

As required by Section 218.39(3)(c), Florida Statutes, and Section 10.554(1)(i)8, Rules of the 
Auditor General, the Ridgewood Trails Community Development District reported: 
 

1) The rate or rates of non-ad valorem special assessments imposed by the District: The 
General Fund, $799.32 - $968.19, and Debt Service Fund, $761.14 - $920.15. 

2) The amount of special assessments collected by or on behalf of the District: Total 
special assessments collected was $568,922. 

3) The total amount of outstanding bonds issued by the District and the terms of such   
bonds: Series 2007A Bonds, $130,000, maturing May 2038. 

 



- 35 - 
 

To the Board of Supervisors 
Ridgewood Trails Community Development District 
 

Original        
Budget Actual

Variance with 
Original 
Budget 
Positive 

(Negative)
Revenues

Special assessments 554,270$        555,533$        1,263$            
Investment earnings 450                 10,212            9,762              
Miscellaneous revenues 500                 8,650              8,150              

Total Revenues 555,220          574,395          19,175            

Expenditures
Current

General government 102,674          96,814            5,860              
Physical environment 203,852          215,369          (11,517)           
Culture and recreation 223,519          219,402          4,117              

Capital outlay 64,500            -                      64,500            
Debt Service

Principal -                      3,633              (3,633)             
Interest -                      747                 (747)                

Total Expenditures 594,545          535,965          58,580            

Excess of revenues over/(under) 
   expenditures (39,325)           38,430            77,755            

Fund Balances - October 1, 2022 180,647          335,286          154,639          

Fund Balances - September 30, 2023 141,322$        373,716$        232,394$        

Additional Matters 
 
Section 10.554(1)(i)3., Rules of the Auditor General, requires us to communicate 
noncompliance with provisions of contracts or grant agreements, or abuse, that have occurred, 
or are likely to have occurred, that have an effect on the financial statements that is less than 
material but warrants the attention of those charged with governance.  In connection with our 
audit, we did not note any such findings. 



- 36 - 
 

To the Board of Supervisors 
Ridgewood Trails Community Development District 
 
Purpose of this Letter 
 
Our management letter is intended solely for the information and use of the Legislative Auditing 
Committee, members of the Florida Senate and the Florida House of Representatives, the 
Florida Auditor General, Federal and other granting agencies, the Board of Supervisors, and 
applicable management, and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than 
these specified parties. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Berger, Toombs, Elam, Gaines & Frank 
Certified Public Accountants PL 
Fort Pierce, Florida 
 
October 10, 2024 

audit
Firm Signature



- 37 -

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT/COMPLIANCE 
WITH SECTION 218.415, FLORIDA STATUTES 

To the Board of Supervisors 
Ridgewood Trails Community Development District 
Clay County, Florida 

We have examined Ridgewood Trails Community Development District's compliance with 
Section 218.415, Florida Statutes during the year ended September 30, 2023. Management is 
responsible for Ridgewood Trails Community Development District’s compliance with those 
requirements. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on Ridgewood Trails Community 
Development District’s compliance based on our examination. 

Our examination was conducted in accordance with attestation standards established by the 
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and, accordingly, included examining, on a 
test basis, evidence about Ridgewood Trails Community Development District’s compliance with 
those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the 
circumstances. We believe that our examination provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 
Our examination does not provide a legal determination on Ridgewood Trails Community 
Development District’s compliance with the specified requirements. 

In our opinion, Ridgewood Trails Community Development District complied, in all material 
respects, with the aforementioned requirements during the year ended September 30, 2023. 

Berger, Toombs, Elam, Gaines & Frank 
Certified Public Accountants PL 
Fort Pierce, Florida 

October 10, 2024 

audit
Firm Signature



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FIFTH ORDER OF BUSINESS 
  



1 
4856-0242-6848.2  

AGREEMENT BETWEEN RIDGEWOOD TRAILS COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT AND COASTAL SHEDS LLC  

FOR STORAGE UNIT DELIVERY AND INSTALLATION 

THIS AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made and entered into this 20th day of September, 
2024, by and between: 

Ridgewood Trails Community Development District, a local unit of special-

purpose government established pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, being 

situated in Clay County, Florida, and whose mailing address is 475 West Town 

Place, Suite 114, St. Augustine, Florida 32092 (“District”); and 

Coastal Sheds LLC, a Florida limited liability company with a mailing address 

of 11818 SE 21
st
 Avenue, Starke, Florida 32091 (“Contractor”, together with 

District, “Parties”). 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the District was established for the purpose of planning, financing, 

constructing, operating and/or maintaining certain infrastructure; and 

WHEREAS, the District has a need to retain an independent contractor to furnish, deliver, 

and install a prefabricated storage unit (“Storage Unit”) to the District; and 

WHEREAS, Contractor submitted a proposal and represents that it is qualified to provide 

all labor, materials, equipment, and transportation services needed to deliver and install the 

Storage Unit on the District’s property and provide to the District those services identified in this 

Agreement and Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated by reference herein (“Services”); 

and 

WHEREAS, the District and Contractor warrant and agree that they have all right, power 

and authority to enter into and be bound by this Agreement. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the recitals, agreements, and mutual covenants 

contained herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which 

are hereby acknowledged by the Parties, the Parties agree as follows: 

SECTION 1. INCORPORATION OF RECITALS.  The recitals stated above are true and 

correct and by this reference are incorporated by reference as a material part of this Agreement. 

SECTION 2. DUTIES. The District agrees to use Contractor to provide the Services in 

accordance with the terms of this Agreement.  The duties, obligations, and responsibilities of the 

Contractor are described in Exhibit A hereto.   

A. Contractor shall provide the Services as described in Exhibit A.  The Services

shall include any effort specifically required by this Agreement and Exhibit A



2 
4856-0242-6848.2  

reasonably necessary to allow the District to receive the maximum benefit of all 

of the Services and items described herein and demonstrated in Exhibit A, 

including but not limited to, the repair, construction, installation, and all materials 

reasonably necessary. To the extent any of the provisions of this Agreement are in 

conflict with the provisions of Exhibit A, this Agreement controls. 

B. Contractor shall deliver and install the Storage Unit at the location designated by

the District.  Installation of the Storage Unit shall be completed within thirty (30)

calendar days of the date of delivery, unless extended in writing by the District in

its sole discretion or terminated earlier in accordance with Section 13 herein.

C. This Agreement grants to Contractor the right to enter the lands that are subject to

this Agreement, for those purposes described in this Agreement, and Contractor

hereby agrees to comply with all applicable laws, rules, and regulations.

Contractor shall assume responsibility for any and all damage to any real or

personal property of the District or any third parties as a result of Contractor’s use

of the District Property under this Agreement.  Contractor shall repair any damage

resulting from its use, operation, or management of any equipment used in

relation to the Services within twenty-four (24) hours of the event causing such

damage.  Any such repairs shall be at Contractor’s sole expense unless otherwise

agreed in writing by the District.  The provisions of this paragraph shall survive

the termination or expiration of this Agreement. Contractor shall make no further

alterations to the Premises without the District’s prior written consent.

D. Contractor shall perform all Services in a neat and workmanlike manner.  In the

event the District in its sole determination, finds that the work of Contractor is not

satisfactory to District, District shall have the right to immediately terminate this

Agreement and will only be responsible for payment of work satisfactorily

completed and for materials actually incorporated into the Services.

E. Contractor shall be solely responsible for the means, manner and methods by

which its duties, obligations and responsibilities are met to the satisfaction of the

District. While providing the Services, the Contractor shall assign such staff as

may be required, and such staff shall be responsible for coordinating, expediting,

and controlling all aspects to assure completion of the Services.

F. Contractor shall report directly to the District Manager.  Contractor shall use all

due care to protect the property of the District, its residents and landowners from

damage.  Contractor agrees to repair any damage resulting from Contractor’s

activities and work within twenty-four (24) hours.

G. Contractor shall keep the premises and surrounding area free from accumulation

of waste materials or rubbish caused by operations under the Agreement.  At

completion of the Services, the Contractor shall remove from the site waste

materials, rubbish, tools, construction equipment, machinery and surplus



3 
4856-0242-6848.2  

materials.  If the Contractor fails to clean up as provided herein, the District may 

do so and the cost thereof shall be charged to the Contractor. 

SECTION 3.  COMPENSATION, PAYMENT, AND RETAINAGE.  

A. The District shall pay Contractor Sixteen Thousand Two Hundred Eleven

Dollars and 00/100 Cents ($16,211.00) for the Services as identified in Exhibit

A attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference. District shall pay

Contractor 50% of the contract price after execution of this Agreement and 50%

of the contract price upon completion of the Services.  Such amounts include all

materials and labor provided for in Exhibit A and all materials, labor, equipment,

tools, and transportation services to deliver and install the Storage Unit and

provide the District the maximum benefits of the Services.

B. If the District should desire additional work or services, the Contractor agrees to

negotiate in good faith to undertake such additional work or services.  Upon

successful negotiations, the Parties shall agree in writing to an addendum,

addenda, or change order(s) to this Agreement.  The Contractor shall be

compensated for such agreed additional work or services based upon a payment

amount acceptable to the parties and agreed to in writing.

C. The District may require, as a condition precedent to making any payment to the

Contractor, that all subcontractors, material men, suppliers or laborers be paid and

require evidence, in the form of lien releases or partial waivers of lien, to be

submitted to the District by those subcontractors, material men, suppliers or

laborers, and further require that the Contractor provide an Affidavit relating to

the payment of said indebtedness. Further, the District shall have the right to

require, as a condition precedent to making any payment, evidence from the

Contractor, in a form satisfactory to the District, that any indebtedness of the

Contractor, as to services to the District, has been paid and that the Contractor has

met all of the obligations with regard to the  withholding and payment of taxes,

Social Security payments, Workmen’s Compensation, Unemployment

Compensation contributions, and similar payroll deductions from the wages of

employees.

SECTION 4. WARRANTY.  The Contractor warrants to the District that all materials 

furnished under this Agreement shall be new, and that all services and materials shall be of good 

quality, free from faults and defects, and will conform to the standards and practices for projects 

of similar design and complexity in an expeditious and economical manner consistent with the 

best interest of the District. In addition to all manufacturer warranties for materials purchased for 

purposes of this Agreement, all Work provided by the Contractor pursuant to this Agreement 

shall be warranted for two (2) years from the date of acceptance of the Work by the District.  

Contractor shall replace or repair warranted items to the District’s satisfaction and in the 

District’s discretion.  Neither final acceptance of the Work, nor final payment therefore, nor any 

provision of the Agreement shall relieve Contractor of responsibility for defective or deficient 

materials or Services.  If any of the materials or Services are found to be defective, deficient or 



4 
4856-0242-6848.2  

not in accordance with the Agreement, Contractor shall correct, remove and replace it promptly 

after receipt of a written notice from the District and correct and pay for any other damage 

resulting therefrom to District property or the property of landowner’s within the District.  

SECTION 5. INSURANCE. 

A. The Contractor shall maintain throughout the term of this Agreement the

following insurance:

(1) Worker’s Compensation Insurance in accordance with the laws of the

State of Florida.

(2) Commercial General Liability Insurance covering the Contractor’s legal

liability for bodily injuries, with limits of not less than One Million

Dollars ($1,000,000) combined single limit bodily injury and property

damage liability, and covering at least the following hazards:

(i) Independent Contractors Coverage for bodily injury and property

damage in connection with any subcontractors’ operation.

(3) Employer’s Liability Coverage with limits of at least One Million Dollars

($1,000,000) per accident or disease.

(4) Automobile Liability Insurance for bodily injuries in limits of not less than

One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) combined single limit bodily injury and

for property damage, providing coverage for any accident arising out of or

resulting from the operation, maintenance, or use by the Contractor of any

owned, non-owned, or hired automobiles, trailers, or other equipment

required to be licensed.

B. The District, its staff, consultants and supervisors shall be named as additional

insured.  The Contractor shall furnish the District with the Certificate of Insurance

evidencing compliance with this requirement.  No certificate shall be acceptable

to the District unless it provides that any change or termination within the policy

periods of the insurance coverage, as certified, shall not be effective within thirty

(30) days of prior written notice to the District.  Insurance coverage shall be from

a reputable insurance carrier, licensed to conduct business in the State of Florida.

C. If the Contractor fails to have secured and maintained the required insurance, the

District has the right but not the obligation to secure such required insurance in

which event the Contractor shall pay the cost for that required insurance and shall

furnish, upon demand, all information that may be required in connection with the

District’s obtaining the required insurance.

SECTION 6. INDEMNIFICATION. 



5 
4856-0242-6848.2  

A. Contractor agrees to defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the District and its

officers, agents, employees, successors, assigns, members, affiliates, or

representatives from any and all liability, claims, actions, suits, liens, demands,

costs, interest, expenses, damages, penalties, fines, judgments against the District,

or loss or damage, whether monetary or otherwise, arising out of, wholly or in

part by, or in connection with the Services to be performed by Contractor, its

subcontractors, its employees and agents in connection with this Agreement,

including litigation, mediation, arbitration, appellate, or settlement proceedings

with respect thereto.  Additionally, nothing in this Agreement requires Contractor

to indemnify the District for the District’s percentage of fault if the District is

adjudged to be more than 50% at fault for any claims against the District and

Contractor as jointly liable parties; however, Contractor shall indemnify the

District for any and all percentage of fault attributable to Contractor for claims

against the District, regardless whether the District is adjudged to be more or less

than 50% at fault.

B. Obligations under this section shall include the payment of all settlements,

judgments, damages, liquidated damages, penalties, forfeitures, back pay awards,

court costs, arbitration and/or mediation costs, litigation expenses, attorneys’ fees,

paralegal fees, expert witness fees (incurred in court, out of court, on appeal, or in

bankruptcy proceedings), any interest, expenses, damages, penalties, fines, or

judgments against the District.

SECTION 7. LIMITATIONS ON GOVERNMENTAL LIABILITY.  Nothing in this 

Agreement shall be deemed as a waiver of the District’s sovereign immunity or the District’s 

limits of liability as set forth in Section 768.28, Florida Statutes, or other statute, and nothing in 

this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of any third party for the purpose of allowing any claim 

which would otherwise be barred under such limitations of liability or by operation of law.  

SECTION 8. COMPLIANCE WITH GOVERNMENTAL REGULATION.  The Contractor 

shall keep, observe, and perform all requirements of applicable local, State, and Federal laws, 

rules, regulations, or ordinances.  If the Contractor fails to notify the District in writing within 

five (5) days of the receipt of any notice, order, required to comply notice, or a report of a 

violation or an alleged violation, made by any local, State, or Federal governmental body or 

agency or subdivision thereof with respect to the services being rendered under this Agreement 

or any action of the Contractor or any of its agents, servants, employees, or materialmen, or with 

respect to terms, wages, hours, conditions of employment, safety appliances, or any other 

requirements applicable to provision of services, or fails to comply with any requirement of such 

agency within five (5) days after receipt of any such notice, order, request to comply notice, or 

report of a violation or an alleged violation, the District may terminate this Agreement, such 

termination to be effective upon the giving of notice of termination. 

SECTION 9. LIENS AND CLAIMS.  The Contractor shall promptly and properly pay for 

all labor employed, materials purchased, and equipment hired by it to perform under this 

Agreement.  The Contractor shall keep the District’s property free from any materialmen’s or 

mechanic’s liens and claims or notices in respect to such liens and claims, which arise by reason 



6 
4856-0242-6848.2  

of the Contractor’s performance under this Agreement, and the Contractor shall immediately 

discharge any such claim or lien.  In the event that the Contractor does not pay or satisfy such 

claim or lien within three (3) business days after the filing of notice thereof, the District, in 

addition to any and all other remedies available under this Agreement, may terminate this 

Agreement to be effective immediately upon the giving of notice of termination. 

SECTION 10. DEFAULT AND PROTECTION AGAINST THIRD PARTY INTERFERENCE.  A 

default by either party under this Agreement shall entitle the other to all remedies available at 

law or in equity, which may include, but not be limited to, the right of damages, injunctive relief, 

and/or specific performance.  The District shall be solely responsible for enforcing its rights 

under this Agreement against any interfering third party.  Nothing contained in this Agreement 

shall limit or impair the District’s right to protect its rights from interference by a third party to 

this Agreement. 

SECTION 11. CUSTOM AND USAGE.  It is hereby agreed, any law, custom, or usage to 

the contrary notwithstanding, that the District shall have the right at all times to enforce the 

conditions and agreements contained in this Agreement in strict accordance with the terms of this 

Agreement, notwithstanding any conduct or custom on the part of the District in refraining from 

so doing; and further, that the failure of the District at any time or times to strictly enforce its 

rights under this Agreement shall not be construed as having created a custom in any way or 

manner contrary to the specific conditions and agreements of this Agreement, or as having in any 

way modified or waived the same. 

SECTION 12. SUCCESSORS.  This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding 

upon the heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns of the Parties to this 

Agreement, except as expressly limited in this Agreement. 

SECTION 13. TERMINATION.  The District agrees that the Contractor may terminate this 

Agreement with cause by providing thirty (30) days’ written notice of termination to the District 

stating a failure of the District to perform according to the terms of this Agreement; provided, 

however, that the District shall be provided a reasonable opportunity to cure any failure under 

this Agreement.  The Contractor agrees that the District may terminate this Agreement 

immediately for cause by providing written notice of termination to the Contractor. The District 

shall provide thirty (30) days’ written notice of termination without cause.  Upon any termination 

of this Agreement, the Contractor shall be entitled to payment for all work and/or services 

rendered up until the effective termination of this Agreement, subject to whatever claims or off-

sets the District may have against the Contractor.   

SECTION 14. PERMITS AND LICENSES.  All permits and licenses required by any 

governmental agency directly for the District shall be obtained and paid for by the District.  All 

other permits or licenses necessary for the Contractor to perform under this Agreement shall be 

obtained and paid for by the Contractor. 

SECTION 15. ASSIGNMENT.  Neither the District nor the Contractor may assign this 

Agreement without the prior written approval of the other.  Any purported assignment without 

such approval shall be void. 



7 
4856-0242-6848.2  

SECTION 16. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR STATUS.  In all matters relating to this 

Agreement, the Contractor shall be acting as an independent contractor.  Neither the Contractor 

nor employees of the Contractor, if there are any, are employees of the District under the 

meaning or application of any Federal or State Unemployment or Insurance Laws or Old Age 

Laws or otherwise.  The Contractor agrees to assume all liabilities or obligations imposed by any 

one or more of such laws with respect to employees of the Contractor, if there are any, in the 

performance of this Agreement.  The Contractor shall not have any authority to assume or create 

any obligation, express or implied, on behalf of the District and the Contractor shall have no 

authority to represent the District as an agent, employee, or in any other capacity, unless 

otherwise set forth in this Agreement. 

SECTION 17. HEADINGS FOR CONVENIENCE ONLY.  The descriptive headings in this 

Agreement are for convenience only and shall neither control nor affect the meaning or 

construction of any of the provisions of this Agreement. 

SECTION 18. ENFORCEMENT OF AGREEMENT.  In the event that either the District or 

the Contractor is required to enforce this Agreement by court proceedings or otherwise, then the 

prevailing party shall be entitled to recover all fees and costs incurred, including reasonable 

attorneys’ fees and costs for trial, alternative dispute resolution, or appellate proceedings. 

SECTION 19. AGREEMENT.  This instrument shall constitute the final and complete 

expression of this Agreement between the Parties relating to the subject matter of this 

Agreement. None of the provisions of Exhibit A shall apply to this Agreement and Exhibit A 

shall not be incorporated herein, except that Exhibit A is applicable to the extent that it states the 

scope of services for the labor and materials to be provided under this Agreement. 

SECTION 20. AMENDMENTS.  Amendments to and waivers of the provisions contained 

in this Agreement may be made only by an instrument in writing which is executed by both 

Parties. 

SECTION 21. AUTHORIZATION.  The execution of this Agreement has been duly 

authorized by the appropriate body or official of the Parties, the Parties have complied with all 

the requirements of law, and the Parties have full power and authority to comply with the terms 

and provisions of this Agreement. 

SECTION 22. NOTICES.  All notices, requests, consents and other communications under 

this Agreement (“Notice” or “Notices”) shall be in writing and shall be hand delivered, mailed 

by First Class Mail, postage prepaid, or sent by overnight delivery service, to the Parties, as 

follows: 

A. If to District: Ridgewood Trails Community  

Development District 

475 West Town Place, Suite 114 

St. Augustine, Florida 32092  

Attn:  District Manager 



8 
4856-0242-6848.2  

With a copy to: Kutak Rock LLP 

107 West College Avenue 

Tallahassee, Florida 32301 

Attn: District Counsel 

B. If to the Contractor: Coastal Sheds LLC 

11818 SE 21
st
 Avenue

Starke, Florida 32091   

Attn: ____________ 

Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, any Notice shall be deemed received 

only upon actual delivery at the address set forth above.  Notices delivered after 5:00 p.m. (at the 

place of delivery) or on a non-business day, shall be deemed received on the next business day.  

If any time for giving Notice contained in this Agreement would otherwise expire on a non-

business day, the Notice period shall be extended to the next succeeding business day.  

Saturdays, Sundays, and legal holidays recognized by the United States government shall not be 

regarded as business days.  Counsel for the District and counsel for the Contractor may deliver 

Notices on behalf of the District and the Contractor.  Any party or other person to whom Notices 

are to be sent or copied may notify the Parties and addressees of any change in name or address 

to which Notices shall be sent by providing the same on five (5) days written notice to the Parties 

and addressees set forth in this Agreement. 

SECTION 23. THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES.  This Agreement is solely for the benefit 

of the Parties hereto and no right or cause of action shall accrue upon or by reason, to or for the 

benefit of any third party not a formal party to this Agreement.  Nothing in this Agreement 

expressed or implied is intended or shall be construed to confer upon any person or corporation 

other than the Parties hereto any right, remedy, or claim under or by reason of this Agreement or 

any of the provisions or conditions of this Agreement; and all of the provisions, representations, 

covenants, and conditions contained in this Agreement shall inure to the sole benefit of and shall 

be binding upon the Parties hereto and their respective representatives, successors, and assigns. 

SECTION 24. CONTROLLING LAW AND VENUE.  This Agreement and the provisions 

contained in this Agreement shall be construed, interpreted, and controlled according to the laws 

of the State of Florida.  All actions and disputes shall be brought in the proper court and venue, 

which shall be Clay County, Florida. 

SECTION 25. COMPLIANCE WITH PUBLIC RECORDS LAWS.  Contractor understands 

and agrees that all documents of any kind provided to the District in connection with this 

Agreement may be public records, and, accordingly, Contractor agrees to comply with all 

applicable provisions of Florida law in handling such records, including but not limited to 

Section 119.0701, Florida Statutes. Contractor acknowledges that the designated public records 

custodian for the District is Marilee Giles (“Public Records Custodian”).  Among other 

requirements and to the extent applicable by law, the Contractor shall 1) keep and maintain 

public records required by the District to perform the service; 2) upon request by the Public 



9 
4856-0242-6848.2  

Records Custodian, provide the District with the requested public records or allow the records to 

be inspected or copied within a  reasonable time period at a cost that does not exceed the cost 

provided in Chapter 119, Florida Statutes; 3) ensure that public records which are exempt or 

confidential, and exempt from public records disclosure requirements, are not disclosed except as 

authorized by law for the duration of the contract term and following the contract term if the 

Contractor does not transfer the records to the Public Records Custodian of the District; and 4) 

upon completion of the contract, transfer to the District, at no cost, all  public records in 

Contractor’s possession or, alternatively, keep, maintain and meet all applicable  requirements 

for retaining public records pursuant to Florida laws.  When such public records are transferred 

by the Contractor, the Contractor shall destroy any duplicate public records that are exempt or 

confidential and exempt from public records disclosure requirements.  All records stored 

electronically must be provided to the District in a format that is compatible with Microsoft 

Word or Adobe PDF formats.   

IF THE CONTRACTOR HAS QUESTIONS REGARDING THE 

APPLICATION OF CHAPTER 119, FLORIDA STATUTES, TO 

THE CONTRACTOR’S DUTY TO PROVIDE PUBLIC 

RECORDS RELATING TO THIS CONTRACT, CONTACT 

THE CUSTODIAN OF PUBLIC RECORDS AT 

MGILES@GMSNF.COM, (904) 940-5850, OR 475 WEST 

TOWN PLACE, SUITE 114, ST. AUGUSTINE, FLORIDA 

32092. 

SECTION 26. SEVERABILITY.  The invalidity or unenforceability of any one or more 

provisions of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining 

portions of this Agreement, or any part of this Agreement not held to be invalid or 

unenforceable. 

SECTION 27. ARM’S LENGTH TRANSACTION.  This Agreement has been negotiated 

fully between the Parties as an arm’s length transaction.  The Parties participated fully in the 

preparation of this Agreement with the assistance of their respective counsel.  In the case of a 

dispute concerning the interpretation of any provision of this Agreement, the Parties are each 

deemed to have drafted, chosen, and selected the language, and any doubtful language will not 

be interpreted or construed against any party. 

SECTION 28. COUNTERPARTS.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of 

counterparts, each of which when executed and delivered shall be an original; however, all such 

counterparts together shall constitute, but one and the same instrument. Additionally, the Parties 

acknowledge and agree that the Agreement may be executed by electronic signature, which shall 

be considered as an original signature for all purposes and shall have the same force and effect as 

an original signature. Without limitation, “electronic signature” shall include faxed versions of 

an original signature, electronically scanned and transmitted versions (e.g. via PDF) of an 

original signature, or signatures created in a digital format.  



10 
4856-0242-6848.2  

SECTION 29. E-VERIFY.  The Contractor shall comply with and perform all applicable 

provisions of Section 448.095, Florida Statutes. Accordingly, to the extent required by Florida 

Statute, Contractor shall register with and use the United States Department of Homeland 

Security’s E-Verify system to verify the work authorization status of all newly hired employees. 

The District may terminate this Agreement immediately for cause if there is a good faith belief 

that the Contractor has knowingly violated Section 448.09(1), Florida Statutes.  By entering into 

this Agreement, the Contractor represents that no public employer has terminated a contract with 

the Contractor under Section 448.095(2)(c), Florida Statutes, within the year immediately 

preceding the date of this Agreement. 

SECTION 30. COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 20.055, FLORIDA STATUTES.   The Contractor 

agrees to comply with Section 20.055(5), Florida Statutes, to cooperate with the inspector 

general in any investigation, audit, inspection, review, or hearing pursuant to such section and to 

incorporate in all subcontracts the obligation to comply with Section 20.055(5), Florida 

Statutes.  

SECTION 31.  STATEMENT REGARDING CHAPTER 287 REQUIREMENTS. Contractor 

acknowledges that, in addition to all Laws and Regulations that apply to this Agreement, the 

following provisions of Florida law (“Public Integrity Laws”) apply to this Agreement: 

A. Section 287.133, Florida Statutes, titled Public entity crime; denial or revocation

of the right to transact business with public entities;

B. Section 287.134, Florida Statutes, titled Discrimination; denial or revocation of

the right to transact business with public entities;

C. Section 287.135, Florida Statutes, titled Prohibition against contracting with

scrutinized companies;

D. Section 287.137, Florida Statutes, titled Antitrust violations; denial or revocation

of the right to transact business with public entities; denial of economic benefits;

and

E. Section 287.138, Florida Statutes, titled Contracting with entities of foreign

countries of concern prohibited.

Contractor acknowledges that the Public Integrity Laws prohibit entities that meet certain 

criteria from bidding on or entering into or renewing a contract with governmental entities, 

including with the District (“Prohibited Criteria”). 

Contractor acknowledges that the District may terminate this Agreement if the Contractor 

is found to have met the Prohibited Criteria or violated the Public Integrity Laws. 

Contractor certifies that in entering into this Agreement, neither it nor any of its officers, 

directors, executives, partners, shareholders, employees, members, or agents who are active in 

the management of the entity, nor any affiliate of the entity, meets any of the Prohibited Criteria, 

and in the event such status changes, Contractor shall immediately notify the District. By 

entering into this Agreement, Contractor agrees that any renewal or extension of this Contract 

shall be deemed a recertification of such status. 





12 
4856-0242-6848.2  

Exhibit A 

Scope of Services 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SEVENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS 
  



 

 

RIDGEWOOD TRAILS COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
RULES RELATING TO OVERNIGHT PARKING AND PARKING ENFORCEMENT 

 
 
 In accordance with Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, and on November 1, 2017 at a 
duly noticed public meeting, the Board of Supervisors of the Ridgewood Trails Community 
Development District (“District”) adopted the following policy to govern overnight parking 
and parking enforcement on certain District property.  This policy repeals and supersedes 
all prior rules and/or policies governing the same subject matter. 
 
 
 

SECTION 1.   INTRODUCTION.  The District finds that parked Commercial Vehicles, 
Vehicles, Vessels and Recreational Vehicles (hereinafter defined) on certain of its property 
Overnight (hereinafter defined) cause hazards and danger to the health, safety and welfare of 
District residents, paid users and the public. This policy is intended to provide the District’s 
residents and paid users with a means to park Vehicles of overnight guests in the District’s 
Overnight Parking Areas (hereinafter defined) and remove such Commercial Vehicles, Vehicles, 
Vessels and Recreational Vehicles from District designated Tow-Away Zones consistent with 
this Policy and as indicated on Exhibit A attached hereto. This Policy authorizes parking in 
designated areas, which areas are identified in Exhibit B attached hereto. 
 

SECTION 2.   DEFINITIONS.   
 

A. Commercial Vehicle. Any mobile item which normally uses wheels, whether 
motorized or not, that (i) is titled, registered or leased to a company and not an 
individual person, or (ii) is used for business purposes even if titled, registered 
or leased to an individual person. 
 

B. Vehicle. Any mobile item which normally uses wheels, whether motorized or 
not. 

 
C. Vessel. Every description of watercraft, barge, or airboat used or capable of 

being used as a means of transportation on water.  
 
D. Recreational Vehicle. A vehicle designed for recreational use, which includes 

motor homes, campers and trailers relative to same. 
 
E. Parked. A Vehicle, Vessel or Recreational Vehicle left unattended by its 

owner or user. 
 
F. Tow-Away Zone.  District property in which parking is prohibited and in 

which the District is authorized to initiate a towing and/or removal action. 
 



 

 

G. Overnight.  Between the hours of 10:00 p.m. and 6:00 a.m. daily. 
 
SECTION 3.   DESIGNATED PARKING AREAS.  Those areas within the District’s 

boundaries depicted in Exhibit A, which is incorporated herein by reference, are hereby 
established as “Tow-Away Zones” during Overnight hours for all Commercial Vehicles, Vessels, 
Recreational Vehicles and improperly permitted Vehicles, as set forth in Sections 4 and 5 herein 
(“Tow Away Zone”). Vehicles may be parked overnight on District property, only as indicated 
on Exhibit B, attached hereto (“Overnight Parking Areas”) and with a pre-approved permit as 
set forth in this Policy.  
 

SECTION 4.   ESTABLISHMENT OF TOW-AWAY ZONES.  The areas set forth in Exhibit A 
attached hereto are declared a Tow Away Zone. 

 
SECTION 5.   EXCEPTIONS. 

 
A. OVERNIGHT PARKING PERMITS.   Residents may apply for an “Overnight Parking 

Permit” which will allow such resident and/or guest to park in the Overnight Parking 
Areas after-hours, and overnight.  Overnight Parking Permit requests will be granted in 
accordance with the following: 

 
1. Permits may not exceed seven (7) consecutive days. In no event may an 

Overnight Parking Permit be granted for more than fourteen (14) nights per year 
for one automobile, as identified by the automobile’s license plate number.  
 

2. Residents and paid users interested in an Overnight Parking Permit may submit a 
request to the District Manager or his/her designee which includes the following 
information: 

 
(1) The name, address and contact information of the owner of the vehicle to 

which the permit will be granted;  
(2) The make/model and license plate of the vehicle to which the permit will 

apply;  
(3) The reason and special terms (if any) for the Overnight Parking Permit; 

and 
(4) The date and time of the expiration of the requested Overnight Parking 

Permit. 
 
It is the responsibility of the person(s) requesting an Overnight Parking Permit to 
secure all necessary documentation and approvals.  Failure to secure all necessary 
documentation and approvals will result in the towing and/or removal of the 
Vehicle from the District’s property. Improperly permitted Vehicles parked in the 
Tow Away Zones will be subject to towing. 

 



 

 

3. Upon receipt of all requested documentation, as set forth above, the District 
Manager or his/her designee will issue an Overnight Parking Permit to the 
resident.  Overnight Parking Permits will be granted by way of written 
correspondence by the District Manager or his/her designee.  No verbal grants of 
authority will be issued or be held valid. 

 
4. The Overnight Parking Permit must be displayed on the bottom left side of the 

Vehicle windshield.  
 

B. VENDORS/CONTRACTORS.   The District Manager or his/her designee may authorize 
vendors/consultants in writing to park company vehicles in order to facilitate District 
business.  All vehicles so authorized must be identified by an Overnight Parking Pass.   

 
SECTION 6.   TOWING/REMOVAL PROCEDURES. 
 

A. SIGNAGE AND LANGUAGE REQUIREMENTS.   Notice of the Tow-Away Zones shall 
be approved by the District’s Board of Supervisors and shall be posted on District 
property in the manner set forth in Section 715.07, Florida Statutes.  Such signage is to 
be placed in conspicuous locations, in accordance with Section 715.07, Florida Statutes. 
 

B. TOWING/REMOVAL AUTHORITY.   To effect towing/removal of a Commercial 
Vehicle, Vehicle, Vessel or Recreational Vehicle, the District Manager or his/her 
designee must verify that the subject Commercial Vehicle, Vehicle, Vessel or 
Recreational Vehicle was not authorized to park under this rule and then must contact a 
firm authorized by Florida law to tow/remove Commercial Vehicle, Vehicles, Vessels 
and Recreational Vehicles for the removal of such unauthorized vehicle at the owner’s 
expense.  The Commercial Vehicle, Vehicle, Vessel or Recreational Vehicle shall be 
towed/removed by the firm in accordance with Florida law, specifically the provisions set 
forth in Section 715.07, Florida Statutes.   
 

C. AGREEMENT WITH AUTHORIZED TOWING SERVICE. The District’s Board of 
Supervisors is hereby authorized to enter into and maintain an agreement with a firm 
authorized by Florida law to tow/remove unauthorized vehicles and in accordance with 
Florida law and with the policies set forth herein.   

 
SECTION 7.   PARKING AT YOUR OWN RISK.  Vehicles, Vessels or Recreational Vehicles 
may be parked on District property pursuant to this rule, provided however that the District 
assumes no liability for any theft, vandalism and/ or damage that might occur to personal 
property and/or to such vehicles. 
 
EXHIBIT A – Tow Away Zone 
EXHIBIT B - Map of Overnight Parking Areas 
 
Effective date: November 1, 2017 



 

 

EXHIBIT A – Tow Away Zone 
 
TRACTS CO-2, CO-3, CO-4, P-1, R-2, R-3, AND ST-9, AZALEA RIDGE UNIT 1, AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 53, PAGE 57, OF THE 
OFFICIAL RECORDS OF CLAY COUNTY, FLORIDA.  
 



 

 



 

 

 
 



 

 

EXHIBIT B - Map of Overnight Parking Areas 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

EIGHTH ORDER OF BUSINESS 
  



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

E. 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

1. 



 

 

11/6/2024 

 
  

Azalea Ridge at 
Ridgewood Trails 
Community Development District 
Amenity Management Report 

Rob Alba 
AMENITY MANAGER 
RIVERSIDE MANAGEMENT SERVICES, INC.  
 
 

 



 

Ridgewood Trails Operations Report – RMS 2024  

Ridgewood Trails 
Community Development District 

 
Amenity Management Report 

November 6th, 2024 
 
 
To:  Board of Supervisors 
 
From:  Rob Alba 
  Amenity Manager 
 
RE:  Azalea Ridge Amenity Management Report – September 4, 2024 
 
The following is a summary of items related to the field operations, maintenance, 
and amenity management of Azalea Ridge.  

 



 

Ridgewood Trails Operations Report – RMS 2024  

Community Updates 

MAINTENANCE 
• Repaired power line track fence and gate on Long Bay 

• Completion of all pool furniture re-strapped 

• Vent fans in pool bathrooms repaired 
 

UPCOMING MAINTENANCE PROJECTS 
• Playground and permit process 
• Auxiliary structure (storage shed) 

o Currently being painted and roofed 
• Pergola next to slide needs repair or replacement 

 

 EVENTS 
• Azalea Ridge annual meeting 

o Nov. 7th 6pm 
• Winter Festival upcoming on December 14th 

o Combined HOA/CDD 
o 11am – 3pm 
o Food Trucks 

 
AUDIT UPDATE 

• 28 Residents with expired credentials filled out access card forms since September 
• 15% of residents have missing paperwork and expired credentials (down from 19%) 
• 14% of residents have not registered and have no access cards 

 
ROOM RENTALS  

o Total number of rentals for September and October (3). 
o No rentals tentatively scheduled for November and December 

 



 

Ridgewood Trails Operations Report – RMS 2024  

a 
 
 
 
 
For any questions or comments regarding the above information please contact 
Rob Alba, Amenity Manager, at Ridgewoodtrailsmgr@rmsnf.com. 
 
 
 Respectfully, 

 
Rob Alba 
 

 

 
 

 

 Conclusion 

mailto:Ridgewoodtrailsmgr@rmsnf.com


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

2. 



 / 1 5

Quality Site Assessment
Prepared for: Ridgewood Trails CDD

General Information

Customer Focus Areas
Entrances, Pool area

DATE:

NEXT QSA DATE:

CLIENT ATTENDEES:

BRIGHTVIEW ATTENDEES:

Thursday, Oct 24, 2024

Friday, Jan 24, 2025

Karen Fisher 

Karen Fisher 



 / 2 5

Maintenance Items

QUALITY SITE ASSESSMENT
Ridgewood Trails CDD

Newly installed annuals
are looking healthy and
showing good color.

The tip of the entry island
off of Blanding looks like
it was run over by a
vehicle. Will provide a
proposal to replace
damaged plants and
annuals.

Azaleas are in bloom for
the season and beds are
weed free.

Hard edging and base
maintenance is in
rotation.

1 2

3 4

1

2

3

4



 / 3 5

Maintenance Items

QUALITY SITE ASSESSMENT
Ridgewood Trails CDD

Bed edging is in rotation
and well defined.

Pond maintenance is in
rotation.

Amenity Center beds are
weed and trash free.

Missed mulch areas were
completed.

5 6

7 8

5

6

7

8



 / 4 5

Maintenance Items

QUALITY SITE ASSESSMENT
Ridgewood Trails CDD

Missed mulch areas were
completed (Warm
Springs Way Park).

Documenting cars
frequently parked on the
devil strip of the Warm
Springs Way park.

The crew is making sure
to edge out all drains,
valve boxes and utility
boxes throughout as part
of their normal
maintenance.

Low visibility areas are
well maintained.

9 10

11 12

9

10

11

12



 / 5 5

Maintenance Items

QUALITY SITE ASSESSMENT
Ridgewood Trails CDD

Amenity Center beds are
looking sharp.

13

13



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

TENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS 
  



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

A. 



MINUTES OF MEETING 
RIDGEWOOD TRAILS 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 
 The regular meeting of the Board of Supervisors of the Ridgewood Trails Community 

Development District was held Wednesday, September 4, 2024 at 6:00 p.m. at the Azalea Ridge 

Amenity Center, 1667 Azalea Ridge Boulevard, Middleburg, Florida. 

 

 Present and constituting a quorum were: 
 
 Dennis Shroyer Chairman 
 Jacqui Proctor Miller Vice Chairperson by telephone 
 Marty Genska Supervisor by telephone 
 Michael Wetherbee Supervisor 
 Scott Edson Supervisor 
 
 Also present were: 
 
 Marilee Giles District Manager 
 Katie Buchanan District Counsel by telephone 
 Jay Soriano GMS 
 Tara Lee RMS 
 Rob Alba RMS 
 Karen Fisher Brightview by telephone 
 
 The following is a summary of the actions taken at the September 4, 2024 meeting.   

 

FIRST ORDER OF BUSINESS Roll Call 

 Ms. Giles called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. and called the roll.   

 

SECOND ORDER OF BUSINESS Public Comments  

 Ms. Giles stated I have a comment card and the question is shouldn’t the goals and 

objectives be addressed when the new board is in place.   

 Ms. Giles stated when we get to item 5 district counsel is going to explain that.  It is new 

legislation.   

 

THIRD ORDER OF BUSINESS Discussion of Pond Bank Erosion 



September 4, 2024 Ridgewood Trails CDD 

2 

 Mr. Soriano stated I mentioned at the last meeting and Brightview gave us a quote that I 

thought was high, but it is labor intensive.  The engineer and I felt it was not a major concern.  It 

is eroding but it is a slow erosion.  The issue is we have to make sure we can always cut the bank, 

and they have done a good job of cutting that back.  We can keep it on a list and check it every so 

often to see if it is getting worse, but it is nothing to worry about this next year.   

 

FOURTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Consideration of Proposals for Treadmills 

 Mr. Alba gave an overview of the three proposals received for treadmills and Mr. Soriano 

reviewed the warranty for each. 

 After discussion of the cost, maintenance history, warranties, and the number to purchase, 

the board took the following action. 

 

On MOTION by Mr. Shroyer seconded by Mr. Wetherbee with all in 
favor staff was authorized to purchase two Life Fitness treadmills in 
an amount not to exceed $12,000 with a five-year warranty, and to 
keep one of the old ones for people who just want to walk on it. 

 

FIFTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Discussion of CDD Goals & Objectives 

 Ms. Buchanan stated during the last session the legislature adopted a new law that requires 

special districts to adopt performance measures and standards.  This is for all special districts and 

it is likely related to some concerns that were raised in connection with the Reedy Creek 

Improvement District that operated independently without oversight.  The district has 

independence, you are still required to comply with the obligation of establishing goals and 

objectives and those are going to be put into play by October 1st.  They are something the district 

can modify every year.  What you adopt this year you will continue to tweak as the years go on 

and you have a better handle on what the district wants to accomplish and what the reporting 

process is going to be.   

 We adopt these goals and objectives by October 1, and then by December 1, 2025 we are 

required to compile and post on our website an annual report on how well the district has actually 

complied with these goals and objectives.  At this time it is unclear what then will happen to that 

information.  I don’t know if there is any other entity that is going to look at it and provide comment 

to the district but at a minimum, we want to make sure that we adopt goals and objectives this year 



September 4, 2024 Ridgewood Trails CDD 

3 

that we are able to meet.  What we don’t want to do is overshoot and then have to put in this report 

that we didn’t manage to achieve or accomplish the goals and objectives that we set for ourselves.  

All the districts that I represent and Marilee represents are adopting performance measures that are 

things we strive to do no matter what so we can get through this first cycle and better understand 

how it works and what the ramifications are.   

 In your agenda package are some goals and objectives and performance measures that 

GMS put together for your review and conversation.  These are very typical of ones we see at 

many districts we represent.  You are not tied to all of these if there is a tweak that you want to 

make or if you want to remove one or two, however you want to modify it you can.  Our only 

caveat is that we do have to have this in place by October 1st.  Understand this is going to be a 

continuing process and will be amended next year. 

 Ms. Giles stated I can put this on the agenda in the spring and we can start discussing if we 

want to make changes for the next year.  It is a yearly requirement due every October 1st. 

 Mr. Shroyer stated that would be a good idea that way the new board can have some input. 

 

On MOTION by Mr. Shroyer seconded by Mr. Edson with all in 
favor the goals and objectives were approved. 

 

SIXTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Staff Reports 

A. Attorney 

 Ms. Buchanan stated if you haven’t already, don’t forget your ethics training requirements 

that you have to complete by the end of the fiscal year. 

 

B. Engineer 

 Ms. Giles stated Jay has been corresponding with the district engineer and unless there is 

anything for him, we try to handle it and Jay and I will reach out to him if necessary.   

 

 C. Manager  

 There being none, the next item followed.   

 

 D. Operation Manager’s Report 



September 4, 2024 Ridgewood Trails CDD 

4 

 Mr. Soriano gave an overview of the operations report that was included as part of the 

agenda package. 

 

E. Amenity Manager 

1. Report 

 Mr. Alba reviewed the amenity report, and distributed a picture of a logo that he will use 

if there was no objection.   

 

2. Landscape Inspection Report 

 Mr. Soriano stated we will be cutting under the powerlines.  A couple years ago we said 

we would do it maybe once a year.  We own the property but there is an easement that we are not 

allowed to do anything with.  I can work with Brightview and if you want to you can assign a 

supervisor to work with me on that between meetings that way we can just get it taken care of. 

 Mr. Edson was authorized to work with Mr. Soriano and Brightview to cut the area under 

the powerlines in an amount not to exceed $5,000.   

 Ms. Fisher gave an overview of the report, copy of which was included in the agenda 

package. 

 

SEVENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Supervisor’s Requests and Public Comments 

 Ms. Miller stated we need a light pole in the back. 

 Mr. Soriano stated I can bring proposals and it will be about $12,000 for the capital project.  

The light poles are not expensive, it is the labor to do the trenching, and I estimated three poles at 

$12,000.  That is what we put in the budget and I suggest we talk to the county first. 

 

EIGHTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Approval of Consent Agenda 

A. Approval of the Minutes of the July 10, 2024 Meeting 

 

On MOTION by Mr. Shroyer seconded by Mr. Wetherbee with all in 
favor the minutes of the July 10, 2024 meeting were approved as 
presented. 

 

 B. Balance Sheet & Income Statement 



September 4, 2024 Ridgewood Trails CDD 

5 

 C. Assessment Receipt Schedule 

 D. Approval of Check Register 

 

On MOTION by Mr. Shroyer seconded by Mr. Genska with all in 
favor the balance of the consent agenda items was approved. 

 

NINTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Next Meeting Scheduled for Wednesday, 
November 6, 2024 at 6:00 p.m. at the Azalea 
Ridge Amenity Center, 1667 Azalea Ridge 
Boulevard, Middleburg, Florida 

 Ms. Giles stated the next meeting is scheduled for November 6, 2024 a 6:00 p.m. in the 

same location. 

 

On MOTION by Mr. Shroyer seconded by Mr. Edson with all in 
favor the meeting adjourned at 7:08 p.m. 

 

 
 
 
 
    
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  Chairman/Vice Chairman 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

B. 



Ridgewood	Trails
Community	Development	District

Unaudited	Financial	Reporting
September	30,	2024



1

2-3

4

5

6

7-8

9

10

11 Check	Register

Assessment	Receipt	Schedule

Month	to	Month

Long	Term	Debt	Report

Table	of	Contents

Balance	Sheet

General	Fund

Debt	Service	Fund	Series	2007A

Capital	Project	Fund	Series	2007A

Capital	Reserve



	 General	 Capital	Reserve Debt	Service Capital	Project Totals
	 Fund Fund Fund Fund Governmental	Funds

Assets: 	
Cash:
Operating	Account 42,075$																														 19,009$																														 -$																																						 -$																																						 61,084$																																								

Assessments	Receivable -																																															 -																																															 -																																															 -																																															 -																																																									
Due	from	General	Fund -																																															 -																																															 -																																															 -																																															 -																																																									

Investments:
State	Board	of	Administration	(SBA) 181,040																														 170,617																														 -																																															 -																																															 351,658																																								
US	Bank	-	Custody	Account 10,342																																	 -																																															 -																																															 -																																															 10,342																																											

Series	2007
Reserve	A -																																															 -																																															 10,546																																	 -																																															 10,546																																											
Interest	A -																																															 -																																															 -																																															 -																																															 -																																																									
Revenue	A -																																															 -																																															 6,331																																				 -																																															 6,331																																														
Prepayment	A -																																															 -																																															 -																																															 -																																															 -																																																									
Deferred	Costs -																																															 -																																															 -																																															 1,207																																				 1,207																																														

Prepaid	Expenses 25,262																																	 -																																															 -																																															 -																																															 25,262																																											
Deposits 2,803																																				 -																																															 -																																															 -																																															 2,803																																														

Total	Assets 261,522$																								 189,627$																								 16,877$																											 1,207$																															 469,232$																																	

Liabilities:
Accounts	Payable 2,302$																																	 -$																																						 -$																																						 -$																																						 2,302$																																											
Accrued	Expenses 8,368																																				 8,368																																														
Due	to	Other 550																																								 -																																															 -																																															 -																																															 550																																																		

Total	Liabilites 11,220$																											 -$																																					 -$																																					 -$																																					 11,220$																																					

Fund	Balance: 	
Nonspendable:
Prepaid	Items 25,262$																														 -$																																						 -$																																						 -$																																						 25,262$																																								
Deposits 2,803																																				 -																																															 -																																															 -																																															 2,803																																														

Restricted	for:
Debt	Service -																																															 -																																															 16,877																																	 -																																															 16,877																																											
Capital	Project	 -																																															 -																																															 -																																															 1,207																																				 1,207																																														

Assigned	for:	
Capital	Reserve	Fund -																																															 189,627																														 -																																															 -																																															 189,627																																								
Capital	Reserves -																																															 -																																															 -																																															 -																																															 -																																																									

Unassigned 222,237																														 -																																															 -																																															 -																																															 222,237																																								

Total	Fund	Balances 250,302$																								 189,627$																								 16,877$																											 1,207$																															 458,013$																																	

Total		Liabilities	&	Fund	Balance 261,522$																											 189,627$																											 16,877$																														 1,207$																																	 469,232$																																					

Ridgewood	Trails
Community	Development	District

Combined	Balance	Sheet
September	30,	2024

1



Community	Development	District
General	Fund

Statement	of	Revenues,	Expenditures,	and	Changes	in	Fund	Balance
For	The	Period	Ending	September	30,	2024

Adopted Prorated	Budget Actual
Budget Thru	09/30/24 Thru	09/30/24 Variance

Revenues:

Special	Assessments	-	Tax	Roll 612,477$		 			 612,477$		 			 613,656$		 		 1,179$		 			
Interest	Earned/Misc.	Income 2,000	 2,000	 18,778															 16,778	
Rental	Revenue 2,200	 2,200	 3,800																		 1,600	

Total		Revenues 616,677$		 			 616,677$		 			 636,234$		 		 19,557$		 			

Expenditures:

General	&	Administrative:

Supervisor	Fees 8,000$		 			 8,000$		 			 5,600$		 		 2,400$		 			
PR-FICA 612	 -	 612	 428	 184	
Engineering 3,000	 3,000	 395	 2,605	
Attorney 20,000	 20,000	 12,945															 7,055	
Annual	Audit 3,270	 3,270	 3,270																		 -	
Assessment	Administration 5,576	 5,576	 5,576																		 -	
Arbitrage	Rebate 600	 600	 600	 -	
Dissemination	Agent 1,060	 1,060	 1,060																		 -	
Trustee	Fees 5,650	 5,650	 4,517																		 1,133	
Management	Fees 48,416	 48,416	 48,416															 -	
Information	Technology 1,908	 1,908	 1,908																		 -	
Website	Maintenance 1,272	 1,272	 1,272																		 -	
Telephone 350	 350	 398	 (48)	
Postage	&	Delivery 800	 800	 522	 278	
Insurance	General	Liability 8,094	 8,094	 7,726																		 368	
Printing	&	Binding 1,500	 1,500	 558	 942	
Legal	Advertising 1,800	 1,800	 820	 980	
Other	Current	Charges 907	 907	 8	 899	
Office	Supplies 100	 100	 5	 95	
Dues,	Licenses	&	Subscriptions 175	 175	 175	 -	

Total	General	&	Administrative 113,090$		 			 113,090$		 			 96,201$		 		 16,889$		 			

Ridgewood	Trails

2



Community	Development	District
General	Fund

Statement	of	Revenues,	Expenditures,	and	Changes	in	Fund	Balance
For	The	Period	Ending	September	30,	2024

Adopted Prorated	Budget Actual
Budget Thru	09/30/24 Thru	09/30/24 Variance

Ridgewood	Trails

Operations	&	Maintenance

Amenity	Center	Expenditures
Insurance 29,198$		 			 29,198$		 			 15,070$		 		 14,128$		 			
Amenity	Manager 67,416	 67,416	 67,416															 -	
Facility	Assistant 5,000	 5,000	 5,802																		 (802)	
General	Facility	Maintenance 12,190	 12,190	 12,259															 (69)	
Repairs	&	Replacements 25,000	 25,000	 27,792															 (2,792)	
Lifeguards 18,385	 18,385	 15,943															 2,442	
Pool	Maintenance 17,876	 17,876	 17,876															 -	
Pool	Chemicals 17,798	 17,798	 12,389															 5,409	
Water	&	Sewer 15,525	 15,525	 9,066																		 6,459	
Electric 16,100	 16,100	 11,340															 4,760	
Internet/Cable 6,451	 6,451	 6,617																		 (166)	
Janitorial 11,218	 11,218	 11,218															 -	
Janitorial	Supplies 2,500	 2,500	 2,412																		 88	
Security	System 8,797	 8,797	 8,667																		 130	
Refuse	Service 2,709	 2,709	 2,985																		 (276)	
Special	Events 5,000	 5,000	 3,178																		 1,822	
Pool	Permit 475	 475	 475	 -	
Pest	Control 1,000	 1,000	 1,080																		 (80)	
Access	Cards 1,000	 1,000	 -	 1,000	

Subtotal	Amenity	Center	Expenditures 263,638$		 			 263,638$		 			 231,584$		 		 32,054$		 			

Grounds	Maintenance	Expenditures
Operations	Management 24,325$		 			 24,325$		 			 24,325$		 		 -$		 		
Electric 5,000	 5,000	 2,259																		 2,741	
Water 8,300	 8,300	 6,481																		 1,819	
Repairs	&	Maintenance 18,200	 18,200	 9,866																		 8,334	
Landscape	Maintenance 128,444																 128,444															 132,193												 (3,749)	
Lake	Maintenance 12,000	 12,000	 8,304																		 3,696	
Irrigation	Repairs 5,000	 5,000	 1,234																		 3,766	

Subtotal	Grounds	Maintenance	Expenditures 201,269$		 			 201,269$		 			 184,662$		 		 16,607$		 			

Total	Operations	&	Maintenance 464,907$		 			 464,907$		 			 416,247$		 		 48,661$		 			

Total	Expenditures 577,997$		 			 577,997$		 			 512,447$		 		 65,550$		 			

Excess	(Deficiency)	of	Revenues	over	Expenditures 38,680$		 			 38,680$		 			 123,787$		 		 85,107$		 			

Other	Financing	Sources/(Uses):

Transfer	In/(Out) (38,680)$		 			 (38,680)$		 			 (38,680)													 -$		 		

Total	Other	Financing	Sources/(Uses) (38,680)$		 			 (38,680)$		 			 (38,680)$		 		 -$		 		

Net	Change	in	Fund	Balance -$		 	 (0)$	 	 85,107$	 		 85,107$		 			

Fund	Balance	-	Beginning -$		 		 165,196$		 		

Fund	Balance	-	Ending -$		 		 250,302$		 		

3



Ridgewood	Trails
Community	Development	District

Capital	Reserve	Fund
Statement	of	Revenues,	Expenditures,	and	Changes	in	Fund	Balance

For	The	Period	Ending	September	30,	2024

Adopted Prorated	Budget Actual
Budget Thru	09/30/24 Thru	09/30/24 Variance

Revenues
	
Capital	Reserve	Transfer	In 38,680$																	 38,680$																 38,680$																	 -$																															
Interest 1,300																						 1,300																						 5,476																						 4,176																						

Total		Revenues 39,980$																	 39,980$																 44,156$																	 4,176$																				

Expenditures:

Capital	Reserves 60,000$																	 60,000$																 28,256$																	 31,744$																	
Amenity	Improvement	Project -																																		 -																																	 -																																		 -																																		
Other	Curent	Charges 600																										 600																										 -																																		 600																										
Repair	&	Replacement 10,000																			 10,000																			 4,896																						 5,104																						
Pool	Fence	Project -																																		 -																																	 29,898																			 (29,898)																	

Total	Expenditures 70,600$																	 70,600$																 63,050$																	 7,550$																				

Excess	(Deficiency)	of	Revenues	over	Expenditures (30,620)$															 (18,894)$															

Net	Change	in	Fund	Balance (30,620)$															 (18,894)$															

Fund	Balance	-	Beginning 180,691$														 208,521$														

Fund	Balance	-	Ending 150,071$														 189,627$														

4



Ridgewood	Trails
Community	Development	District
Debt	Service	Fund	Series	-	2007A

Statement	of	Revenues,	Expenditures,	and	Changes	in	Fund	Balance
For	The	Period	Ending	September	30,	2024

Adopted Prorated	Budget Actual

Budget Thru	09/30/24 Thru	09/30/24 Variance

Revenues:
	
Special	Assessments	-	Tax	Roll 13,359$																	 13,359$																	 13,384$																	 25$																											
Interest	Income 250																										 250																										 935																										 685																										

Total		Revenues 13,609$																	 13,609$																	 14,319$																	 710$																								

Expenditures:

Interest	-	11/1 3,673$																				 3,673$																				 3,673$																				 -$																															
Interest	-	5/1 3,673																						 3,673																						 3,673																						 -																																		
Principal	-	5/1 5,000																						 5,000																						 5,000																						 -																																		

Total	Expenditures 12,345$																	 12,345$																	 12,345$																	 -$																															

Excess	(Deficiency)	of	Revenues	over	Expenditures 1,264$																				 1,264$																				 1,974$																				 710$																								

Other	Financing	Sources/(Uses):

Transfer	In/(Out) -$																															 -$																															 -$																															 -$																															

Total	Other	Financing	Sources/(Uses) -$																															 -$																															 -$																															 -$																															

Net	Change	in	Fund	Balance 1,264$																				 1,264$																				 1,974$																				 710$																								

Fund	Balance	-	Beginning 5,052$																				 14,903$																	
	

Fund	Balance	-	Ending 6,316$																				 16,877$																	

5



Ridgewood	Trails
Community	Development	District

Capital	Projects	Fund	Series	-	2007A
Statement	of	Revenues,	Expenditures,	and	Changes	in	Fund	Balance

For	The	Period	Ending	September	30,	2024

Adopted Prorated	Budget Actual
Budget Thru	09/30/24 Thru	09/30/24 Variance

Revenues
	
Interest	Income -$																															 -$																															 58$																											 58$																											

Total		Revenues -$																															 -$																															 58$																											 58$																											

Expenditures:

Capital	Outlay	 -$																															 -$																															 -$																															 -$																															

Total	Expenditures -$																															 -$																															 -$																															 -$																															

Excess	(Deficiency)	of	Revenues	over	Expenditures -$																															 -$																															 58$																											 58$																											

Other	Financing	Sources/(Uses)

Transfer	In/(Out) -$																															 -$																															 -$																															 -$																															

Total	Other	Financing	Sources	(Uses) -$																															 -$																															 -$																															 -$																															

Net	Change	in	Fund	Balance -$																															 58$																											

Fund	Balance	-	Beginning -$																															 1,149$																				

Fund	Balance	-	Ending -$																															 1,207$																				

6



Ridgewood	Trails
Community	Development	District

Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb March April May June July Aug Sept Total

Revenues:

Special	Assessments	-	Tax	Roll -$		 	 68,143$	 			 525,629$		 			 2,872$		 			 4,767$		 			 3,744$		 			 5,699$		 			 1,057$		 			 1,745$		 			 -$		 	 -$	 	 -$	 	 613,656$	 			
Interest	Earned/Misc.	Income 553	 276	 193	 1,944	 2,293	 2,161	 3,894	 2,136	 1,414	 1,546	 1,334	 1,032	 18,778	
Rental	Revenue 1,000	 250	 -	 150	 -	 150	 300	 150	 -	 1,000	 250	 550	 3,800	

Total		Revenues 1,553$		 			 68,669$		 			 525,822$		 			 4,966$		 			 7,061$		 			 6,055$		 			 9,894$		 			 3,343$		 			 3,159$		 			 2,546$		 			 1,584$		 			 1,582$		 			 636,234$		 			

Expenditures:

General	&	Administrative:

Supervisor	Fees -$		 	 1,000$	 			 -$		 	 600$	 			 -$		 	 1,000$	 			 -$		 	 1,000$	 			 -$		 	 1,000$	 			 -$		 	 1,000$	 			 5,600$		 			
PR-FICA -	 77	 -	 46	 -	 77	 -	 77	 -	 77	 -	 77	 428	
Engineering -	 - -	 - -	 - -	 - -	 395	 -	 - 395	
Attorney 5,481	 854	 106	 1,056	 464	 1,168	 823	 1,214	 102	 1,678	 -	 - 12,945	
Annual	Audit -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 3,270	 3,270	
Assessment	Administration 5,576	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 5,576	
Arbitrage	Rebate -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 600	 -	 -	 -	 600	
Dissemination	Agent 88	 88	 88	 88	 88	 88	 88	 88	 88	 88	 88	 88	 1,060	
Trustee	Fees 1,129	 -	 -	 3,388	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 4,517	
Management	Fees 4,035	 4,035	 4,035	 4,035	 4,035	 4,035	 4,035	 4,035	 4,035	 4,035	 4,035	 4,035	 48,416	
Information	Technology 159	 159	 159	 159	 159	 159	 159	 159	 159	 159	 159	 159	 1,908	
Website	Maintenance 106	 106	 106	 106	 106	 106	 106	 106	 106	 106	 106	 106	 1,272	
Telephone -	 29	 -	 31	 -	 36	 -	 35	 -	 27	 194	 45	 398	
Postage	&	Delivery 72	 6	 95	 14	 54	 28	 18	 14	 141	 43	 9	 28	 522	
Insurance	General	Liability 7,726	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 7,726	
Printing	&	Binding 78	 53	 45	 8	 62	 19	 48	 55	 71	 20	 85	 14	 558	
Legal	Advertising 46	 -	 46	 100	 -	 -	 -	 46	 143	 -	 439	 -	 820	
Other	Current	Charges -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 8	 -	 -	 -	 - -	 8	
Office	Supplies 1	 0	 0	 1	 1	 0	 0	 0	 1	 0	 0																															 0	 5	
Dues,	Licenses	&	Subscriptions 175	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 - -	 175	

Total	General	&	Administrative 24,673$		 			 6,408$		 			 4,681$		 			 9,632$		 			 4,968$		 			 6,716$		 			 5,284$		 			 6,830$		 			 5,445$		 			 7,627$		 			 5,116$		 			 8,821$		 			 96,201$		 			

Month	to	Month

7



Ridgewood	Trails
Community	Development	District

Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb March April May June July Aug Sept Total

Month	to	Month

Operations	&	Maintenance

Amenity	Center	Expenditures
Insurance 15,070$																 -$																								 -$																								 -$																								 -$																								 -$																								 -$																								 -$																								 -$																								 -$																								 -$																								 -$																								 15,070$																
Amenity	Manager 5,618																					 5,618																					 5,618																					 5,618																					 5,618																					 5,618																					 5,618																					 5,618																					 5,618																					 5,618																					 5,618																					 5,618																					 67,416																		
Facility	Assistant 594																									 80																												 595																									 -																																	 -																																	 530																									 -																																	 1,394																					 1,340																					 682																									 588																									 -																																	 5,802																					
General	Facility	Maintenance 1,064																					 1,214																					 1,322																					 841																									 961																									 1,228																					 760																									 1,093																					 1,679																					 1,263																					 -																																	 834																									 12,259																		
Repairs	&	Replacements 1,775																					 2,681																					 1,786																					 5,171																					 3,125																					 2,469																					 2,310																					 4,720																					 402																									 1,477																					 948																									 928																									 27,792																		
Lifeguards -																																	 -																																	 -																																	 -																																	 -																																	 1,023																					 -																																	 2,538																					 4,807																					 3,686																					 3,889																					 -																																	 15,943																		
Pool	Maintenance 1,490																					 1,490																					 1,490																					 1,490																					 1,490																					 1,490																					 1,490																					 1,490																					 1,490																					 1,490																					 1,490																					 1,490																					 17,876																		
Pool	Chemicals 1,244																					 1,326																					 1,518																					 1,393																					 1,380																					 1,393																					 818																									 1,314																					 357																									 1,168																					 221																									 257																									 12,389																		
Water	&	Sewer 827																									 877																									 789																									 679																									 754																									 729																									 195																									 805																									 907																									 867																									 862																									 773																									 9,066																					
Electric 858																									 840																									 821																									 852																									 895																									 895																									 895																									 938																									 1,045																					 1,129																					 1,065																					 1,107																					 11,340																		
Internet/Cable 508																									 529																									 529																									 547																									 563																									 563																									 563																									 563																									 563																									 563																									 563																									 563																									 6,617																					
Janitorial 935																									 935																									 935																									 935																									 935																									 935																									 935																									 935																									 935																									 935																									 935																									 935																									 11,218																		
Janitorial	Supplies 68																												 209																									 305																									 171																									 69																												 373																									 -																																	 581																									 124																									 206																									 134																									 171																									 2,412																					
Security	System 558																									 2,671																					 415																									 558																									 558																									 558																									 558																									 558																									 558																									 558																									 558																									 558																									 8,667																					
Refuse	Service 227																									 251																									 247																									 246																									 247																									 250																									 248																									 248																									 245																									 256																									 261																									 260																									 2,985																					
Special	Events -																																	 1,265																					 613																									 -																																	 -																																	 -																																	 -																																	 -																																	 1,300																					 -																																	 -																																	 -																																	 3,178																					
Pool	Permit -																																	 -																																	 -																																	 -																																	 -																																	 -																																	 -																																	 -																																	 475																									 -																																	 -																																	 -																																	 475																									
Pest	Control 90																												 90																												 90																												 90																												 90																												 90																												 90																												 90																												 90																												 90																												 90																												 90																												 1,080																					
Access	Cards -																																	 -																																	 -																																	 -																																	 -																																	 -																																	 -																																	 -																																	 -																																	 -																																	 -																																	 -																																	 -																																	

Subtotal	Amenity	Center	Expenditures 30,925$																 20,075$																 17,072$																 18,591$																 16,684$																 18,144$																 14,480$																 22,885$																 21,933$																 19,989$																 17,223$																 13,584$																 231,584$													

Grounds	Maintenance	Expenditures
Operations	Management 2,027$																			 2,027$																			 2,027$																			 2,027$																			 2,027$																			 2,027$																			 2,027$																			 2,027$																			 2,027$																			 2,027$																			 2,027$																			 2,027$																			 24,325$																
Electric 189																									 190																									 192																									 194																									 194																									 194																									 151																									 191																									 191																									 191																									 191																									 191																									 2,259																					
Water 660																									 787																									 612																									 476																									 683																									 456																									 95																												 553																									 566																									 536																									 610																									 447																									 6,481																					
Repairs	&	Maintenance 1,059																					 412																									 311																									 1,248																					 135																									 2,605																					 1,732																					 -																																	 -																																	 -																																	 1,244																					 1,121																					 9,866																					
Landscape	Maintenance 13,737																		 10,704																		 10,704																		 10,704																		 10,704																		 11,419																		 10,704																		 10,704																		 10,704																		 10,704																		 10,704																		 10,704																		 132,193															
Lake	Maintenance 692																									 692																									 692																									 692																									 692																									 692																									 692																									 692																									 692																									 692																									 692																									 692																									 8,304																					
Irrigation	Repairs -																																	 -																																	 -																																	 -																																	 -																																	 -																																	 299																									 -																																	 -																																	 -																																	 -																																	 935																									 1,234																					

Subtotal	Grounds	Maintenance	Expenditures 18,365$																 14,812$																 14,538$																 15,341$																 14,435$																 17,392$																 15,699$																 14,167$																 14,180$																 14,150$																 15,467$																 16,117$																 184,662$													

Total	Operations	&	Maintenance 49,290$																 34,887$																 31,610$																 33,931$																 31,119$																 35,536$																 30,179$																 37,052$																 36,113$																 34,139$																 32,690$																 29,701$																 416,247$													

Total	Expenditures 73,963$																 41,294$																 36,291$																 43,563$																 36,087$																 42,251$																 35,463$																 43,881$																 41,558$																 41,766$																 37,806$																 38,522$																 512,447$													

Excess	(Deficiency)	of	Revenues	over	Expenditures (72,411)$														 27,375$																 489,531$													 (38,597)$														 (29,027)$														 (36,196)$														 (25,569)$														 (40,538)$														 (38,398)$														 (39,220)$														 (36,222)$														 (36,940)$														 123,787$													

Other	Financing	Sources/Uses:

Transfer	In/(Out) -$																														 -$																														 -$																														 -$																														 -$																														 -$																														 (38,680)$														 -$																														 -$																														 -$																														 -$																														 -$																														 (38,680)$														

Total	Other	Financing	Sources/Uses -$																														 -$																														 -$																														 -$																														 -$																														 -$																														 (38,680)$														 -$																														 -$																														 -$																														 -$																														 -$																														 (38,680)$														

Net	Change	in	Fund	Balance (72,411)$														 27,375$																 489,531$													 (38,597)$														 (29,027)$														 (36,196)$														 (64,249)$														 (40,538)$														 (38,398)$														 (39,220)$														 (36,222)$														 (36,940)$														 85,107$																

8



Ridgewood	Trails
Community	Development	District

Long	Term	Debt	Report

Interest	Rate: 5.65%
Maturity	Date: 5/1/2038
Reserve	Fund	Definition 6.949%	of	Outstanding	Bonds
Reserve	Fund	Requirement $8,686
Reserve	Fund	Balance $10,546

Bonds	Outstanding	-	6/1/2019 $150,000
Less:		May	1,	2020	(Mandatory) (5,000)																																																												
Less:		May	1,	2021	(Mandatory) (5,000)																																																												
Less:		May	1,	2022	(Mandatory) (5,000)																																																												
Less:		May	1,	2023	(Mandatory) (5,000)																																																												
Less:		May	1,	2024	(Mandatory) (5,000)																																																												

Current	Bonds	Outstanding $125,000

Series	2007A	Capital	Improvement	Revenue	Bonds

9



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

C. 



ASSESSED
# UNITS 

ASSESSED

SERIES 2007A 
DEBT ASMT 
ASSESSED

 O&M      
ASSESSED

TOTAL 
ASSESSED

NET  TAX ROLL ASSESSED 691 13,358.77           612,487.98        625,846.75        

TOTAL NET ASSESSMENTS 691 13,358.77           612,487.98        625,846.75        

CLAY COUNTY  DISTRIBUTION
DATE 

RECEIVED
TOTAL 

RECEIVED
SERIES 2007A 

DEBT RECEIPTS O&M RECEIPTS
1 11/6/23 1,545.88             33.00 1,512.88            
2 11/14/23 21,347.74           455.67 20,892.07          
3 11/28/23 46,735.45           997.57 45,737.88          
4 12/12/23 525,337.73         11,213.39          514,124.34        
5 12/22/24 11,755.51           250.92 11,504.59          
6 1/10/24 2,934.49             62.64 2,871.85            
7 2/7/24 4,871.30             103.98 4,767.32            
8 3/15/24 3,825.63             81.66 3,743.97            
9 4/11/24 5,823.59             124.31 5,699.28            

10 5/8/24 1,079.92             23.05 1,056.87            
11 6/14/24 1,783.13             38.06 1,745.07            

- - 

TOTAL TAX ROLL RECEIPTS          627,040.37           13,384.25         613,656.12 

TOTAL DEBT O&M
100.19% 100.19% 100.19%

SUMMARY OF TAX ROLL RECEIPTS

PERCENT COLLECTED 
TOTAL PERCENT COLLECTED

RIDGEWOOD TRAILS COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT
Fiscal Year 2024 Assessments Receipts Summary

10



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

D. 



Fund Date Check	Numbers Amount

General	Fund
8/1/2024	-	8/31/24 2679-2696 $37,822.88
9/1/24	-	9/30/24 2697-2713 59,537.97	

$97,360.85

Autopayments
8/6/24 Comcast $240.75
8/6/24 Waste	Pro 261.42	
8/12/24 Comcast 322.61	
8/26/24 Newlane	Finance 395.12	
8/30/24 Clay	Electric 1,256.19	
9/3/24 CCUA 922.55	
9/5/24 Waste	Pro 259.60	
9/6/24 Comcast 240.74	
9/12/24 Comcast 322.61	
9/25/24 Newlane	Finance 395.12	
9/27/24 EFTPS 153.00	

$4,769.71

TOTAL $102,130.56

Ridgewood	Trails
COMMUNITY	DEVELOPMENT	DISTRICT

Fiscal	Year	2024

Check	Register

11



AP300R                                YEAR-TO-DATE ACCOUNTS PAYABLE PREPAID/COMPUTER CHECK REGISTER   RUN 10/29/24          PAGE   1
*** CHECK DATES 08/01/2024 - 09/30/2024 ***       RIDGEWOOD TRAILS CDD

BANK A RIDGEWOOD TRAILS

  CHECK  VEND#  .....INVOICE..... ...EXPENSED TO...              VENDOR NAME             STATUS             AMOUNT    ....CHECK.....
   DATE           DATE   INVOICE   YRMO  DPT ACCT# SUB  SUBCLASS                                                      AMOUNT     #

 8/01/24 00119 8/01/24 8998186  202408 330-53800-46200                                     *           10,703.68
AUG LANDACAPE MAINTENANCE

BRIGHTVIEW LANDSCAPE SERVICES,INC                              10,703.68 002679
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 8/01/24 00039 7/17/24 391      202406 320-57200-46000                                     *              401.71

AMENITY REPAIRS & RPLMTS
7/17/24 391      202406 320-57200-46100                                     *            1,678.50

GENERAL FACILITY MAINT.
7/17/24 391      202406 320-57200-52200                                     *              123.90

JANITORIAL SUPPLIES
RIVERSIDE MANAGEMENT SERVICES, INC.                             2,204.11 002680

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 8/01/24 00139 7/17/24 1020     202407 320-57200-46000                                     *            1,080.00

RE STRAPPING POOL CHAIRS
THE POOL AND PATIO SHOP LLC                                     1,080.00 002681

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 8/01/24 00130 7/18/24 61932421 202407 320-57200-43200                                     *               90.00

JULY RODENT CONTROL
TURNER PEST CONTROL LLC                                            90.00 002682

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 8/07/24 00125 8/01/24 08012024 202406 320-57200-49500                                     *              800.00

SUMMER EVENT - JUNE 2024
AZALEA RIDGE HOMEOWNERS ASSOC INC                                 800.00 002683

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 8/07/24 00126 8/01/24 408815   202408 320-57200-34510                                     *               20.00

ACCESS CONTROL - AUGUST
HI-TECH SYSTEM ASSOCIATES                                          20.00 002684

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 8/07/24 00117 7/31/24 3426310  202406 310-51300-31500                                     *              102.00

JUNE GENERAL COUNSEL
KUTAK ROCK LLP                                                    102.00 002685

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 8/07/24 00042 8/01/24 201650B  202408 330-53800-46400                                     *              692.00

AUGUST LAKE MAINTENANCE
THE LAKE DOCTORS, INC.                                            692.00 002686

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 8/07/24 00118 7/22/24 74441712 202408 320-57200-34510                                     *              142.95

AUG SECURITY SERVICES
VECTOR SECURITY INC                                               142.95 002687

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 8/26/24 00055 8/07/24 14963    202408 330-53800-46000                                     *               45.00

BACKFLOW TEST/CERTIFIED
BOB'S BACKFLOW & PLUMBING SERVICES                                 45.00 002688

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 8/26/24 00003 8/01/24 259      202408 310-51300-34000                                     *            4,034.67

AUG MANAGEMENT FEES

RDGE --RIDGEWOOD--  BPEREGRINO



AP300R                                YEAR-TO-DATE ACCOUNTS PAYABLE PREPAID/COMPUTER CHECK REGISTER   RUN 10/29/24          PAGE   2
*** CHECK DATES 08/01/2024 - 09/30/2024 ***       RIDGEWOOD TRAILS CDD

BANK A RIDGEWOOD TRAILS

  CHECK  VEND#  .....INVOICE..... ...EXPENSED TO...              VENDOR NAME             STATUS             AMOUNT    ....CHECK.....
   DATE           DATE   INVOICE   YRMO  DPT ACCT# SUB  SUBCLASS                                                      AMOUNT     #

8/01/24 259      202408 310-51300-35200                                     *              106.00
AUG WEBSITE ADMIN.

8/01/24 259      202408 310-51300-35100                                     *              159.00
AUG INFORMATION TECH.

8/01/24 259      202408 310-51300-31300                                     *               88.33
AUG DISSEMINATION SVCS

8/01/24 259      202408 310-51300-51000                                     *                 .42
OFFICE SUPPLIES

8/01/24 259      202408 310-51300-42000                                     *                9.01
POSTAGE

8/01/24 259      202408 310-51300-42500                                     *               85.35
COPIES

8/01/24 259      202408 310-51300-41000                                     *              194.11
TELEPHONE

GOVERNMENTAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES                                4,676.89 002689
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 8/26/24 00039 7/11/24 388      202407 320-57200-52100                                     *              218.63

POOL CHEMICALS - TRICHLOR
7/11/24 388      202407 320-57200-52100                                     *               25.58

POOL CHEMIALS-LIQ BLEACH
7/11/24 388      202407 320-57200-46000                                     *              152.90

STENNER TUBE REPLACEMENT
RIVERSIDE MANAGEMENT SERVICES, INC.                               397.11 002690

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 8/26/24 00039 7/31/24 392      202407 320-57200-45200                                     *              682.38

JUL FACILITY ASSISTANT
RIVERSIDE MANAGEMENT SERVICES, INC.                               682.38 002691

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 8/26/24 00039 7/31/24 393      202407 320-57200-45100                                     *            3,685.89

JULY LIFEGUARDS
RIVERSIDE MANAGEMENT SERVICES, INC.                             3,685.89 002692

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 8/26/24 00039 8/16/24 395      202407 320-57200-46000                                     *              244.32

AMENITY REPAIRS & RPLMENT
8/16/24 395      202407 320-57200-46100                                     *            1,262.80

GENERAL FACILITY MAINT.
8/16/24 395      202407 320-57200-52200                                     *              206.17

JANITORIAL SUPPLIES
RIVERSIDE MANAGEMENT SERVICES, INC.                             1,713.29 002693

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 8/26/24 00039 8/01/24 390      202408 320-57200-34200                                     *              934.83

AUG JANITORIAL SERVICES
8/01/24 390      202408 320-57200-46500                                     *            1,489.67

AUG POOL MAINTENANCE SVCS
8/01/24 390      202408 330-53800-34000                                     *            2,027.08

AUG FIELD MGMT/ADMIN.

RDGE --RIDGEWOOD--  BPEREGRINO



AP300R                                YEAR-TO-DATE ACCOUNTS PAYABLE PREPAID/COMPUTER CHECK REGISTER   RUN 10/29/24          PAGE   3
*** CHECK DATES 08/01/2024 - 09/30/2024 ***       RIDGEWOOD TRAILS CDD

BANK A RIDGEWOOD TRAILS

  CHECK  VEND#  .....INVOICE..... ...EXPENSED TO...              VENDOR NAME             STATUS             AMOUNT    ....CHECK.....
   DATE           DATE   INVOICE   YRMO  DPT ACCT# SUB  SUBCLASS                                                      AMOUNT     #

8/01/24 390      202408 320-57200-46200                                     *            5,618.00
AUG FACILITY MGMT

RIVERSIDE MANAGEMENT SERVICES, INC.                            10,069.58 002694
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 8/26/24 00039 8/08/24 394      202408 320-57200-52100                                     *              157.41

POOL CHEMICALS - TRICHLOR
8/08/24 394      202408 320-57200-52100                                     *               63.94

POOL CHEMS. - LIQ BLEACH
8/08/24 394      202408 320-57200-46000                                     *               48.38

POOL REPR - STENNER TUBE
8/08/24 394      202408 320-57200-46000                                     *              289.52

POOL REPR - FLOW METER
8/08/24 394      202408 320-57200-46000                                     *               68.75

INSTALLATION
RIVERSIDE MANAGEMENT SERVICES, INC.                               628.00 002695

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 8/26/24 00130 8/15/24 61943545 202408 320-57200-43200                                     *               90.00

AUG RODENT CONTROL
TURNER PEST CONTROL LLC                                            90.00 002696

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 9/05/24 00119 9/01/24 9037617  202409 330-53800-46200                                     *           10,703.68

SEP LANDSCAPE MAINTENANCE
BRIGHTVIEW LANDSCAPE SERVICES,INC                              10,703.68 002697

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 9/05/24 00029 8/27/24 24840    202409 300-15500-10000                                     *           24,133.00

FY25 POLICY RENEWAL
EGIS INSURANCE ADVISORS, LLC                                   24,133.00 002698

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 9/05/24 00126 9/01/24 410415   202409 320-57200-34510                                     *               20.00

ACCESS CONTROL - SEPT
HI-TECH SYSTEM ASSOCIATES                                          20.00 002699

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 9/05/24 00117 8/30/24 3440006  202407 310-51300-31500                                     *            1,677.50

JULY GENERAL COUNSEL
KUTAK ROCK LLP                                                  1,677.50 002700

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 9/05/24 00042 9/02/24 209414B  202409 330-53800-46400                                     *              692.00

SEP LAKE MAINTENANCE
THE LAKE DOCTORS, INC.                                            692.00 002701

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 9/05/24 00118 8/22/24 74604385 202409 320-57200-34510                                     *              142.95

SEP SECURITY SERVICES
VECTOR SECURITY INC                                               142.95 002702

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 9/12/24 00003 9/30/24 261      202408 320-57200-46000                                     *              541.14

COMMUNITY BUILD A SIGN
GOVERNMENTAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES                                  541.14 002703

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

RDGE --RIDGEWOOD--  BPEREGRINO



AP300R                                YEAR-TO-DATE ACCOUNTS PAYABLE PREPAID/COMPUTER CHECK REGISTER   RUN 10/29/24          PAGE   4
*** CHECK DATES 08/01/2024 - 09/30/2024 ***       RIDGEWOOD TRAILS CDD

BANK A RIDGEWOOD TRAILS

  CHECK  VEND#  .....INVOICE..... ...EXPENSED TO...              VENDOR NAME             STATUS             AMOUNT    ....CHECK.....
   DATE           DATE   INVOICE   YRMO  DPT ACCT# SUB  SUBCLASS                                                      AMOUNT     #

 9/12/24 00003 9/01/24 260      202409 310-51300-34000                                     *            4,034.67
SEP MANAGEMENT FEES

9/01/24 260      202409 310-51300-35200                                     *              106.00
SEP WEBSITE ADMIN.

9/01/24 260      202409 310-51300-35100                                     *              159.00
SEP INFORMATION TECH.

9/01/24 260      202409 310-51300-31300                                     *               88.33
SEP DISSEMINATION SVCS

9/01/24 260      202409 310-51300-51000                                     *                 .30
OFFICE SUPPLIES

9/01/24 260      202409 310-51300-42000                                     *               27.76
POSTAGE

9/01/24 260      202409 310-51300-42500                                     *               13.65
COPIES

9/01/24 260      202409 310-51300-41000                                     *               44.77
TELEPHONE

GOVERNMENTAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES                                4,474.48 002704
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 9/12/24 00039 8/31/24 396      202408 320-57200-45100                                     *            3,889.08

AUG/SEP LIFEGUARDS
RIVERSIDE MANAGEMENT SERVICES, INC.                             3,889.08 002705

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 9/12/24 00039 8/31/24 397      202408 320-57200-45200                                     *              587.77

AUG FACILITY ASSISTANT
RIVERSIDE MANAGEMENT SERVICES, INC.                               587.77 002706

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 9/12/24 00039 9/01/24 533      202409 320-57200-34200                                     *              934.83

SEP JANITORIAL SERVICES
9/01/24 533      202409 320-57200-46500                                     *            1,489.67

SEP POOL MAINTENANCE SVCS
9/01/24 533      202409 330-53800-34000                                     *            2,027.08

SEP FIELD MGMT/ADMIN
9/01/24 533      202409 320-57200-46200                                     *            5,618.00

SEP FACILITY MGMT
RIVERSIDE MANAGEMENT SERVICES, INC.                            10,069.58 002707

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 9/18/24 00144 9/13/24 6642682  202408 310-51300-48000                                     *              439.20

NOTICE OF FY25 MEETINGS
GANNETT MEDIA CORP                                                439.20 002708

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 9/18/24 00146 9/17/24 09172024 202409 300-20700-10100                                     *              506.83

CCUA JUNE PAYMENT
9/17/24 09172024 202409 300-20700-10100                                     *              478.55

CCUA JULY PAYMENT
PINE RIDGE PLANTATION CDD                                         985.38 002709

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

RDGE --RIDGEWOOD--  BPEREGRINO



AP300R                                YEAR-TO-DATE ACCOUNTS PAYABLE PREPAID/COMPUTER CHECK REGISTER   RUN 10/29/24          PAGE   5
*** CHECK DATES 08/01/2024 - 09/30/2024 ***       RIDGEWOOD TRAILS CDD

BANK A RIDGEWOOD TRAILS

  CHECK  VEND#  .....INVOICE..... ...EXPENSED TO...              VENDOR NAME             STATUS             AMOUNT    ....CHECK.....
   DATE           DATE   INVOICE   YRMO  DPT ACCT# SUB  SUBCLASS                                                      AMOUNT     #

 9/18/24 00145 9/13/24 2024199  202409 320-57200-46000                                     *              225.00
COMMUNITY YARD SALE SIGNS

SIGNSHOP JAX LLC                                                  225.00 002710
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 9/18/24 00130 9/13/24 61956223 202409 320-57200-43200                                     *               90.00

SEP PEST CONTROL
TURNER PEST CONTROL LLC                                            90.00 002711

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 9/24/24 00119 9/19/24 9071543  202409 330-53800-46301                                     *              610.00

MAINLINE REPAIR
BRIGHTVIEW LANDSCAPE SERVICES,INC                                 610.00 002712

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 9/24/24 00039 9/20/24 398      202409 320-57200-52100                                     *               87.45

POOL CHEMICALS-TRICHLOR
9/20/24 398      202409 320-57200-52100                                     *               51.15

POOL CHEMICALS-LIQ BLEACH
9/20/24 398      202409 320-57200-52100                                     *               81.95

POOL CHEMICALS-DE POWDER
9/20/24 398      202409 320-57200-52100                                     *               36.66

POOL CHEMICALS-TILE SOAP
RIVERSIDE MANAGEMENT SERVICES, INC.                               257.21 002713

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

TOTAL FOR BANK A                 97,360.85

TOTAL FOR REGISTER               97,360.85

RDGE --RIDGEWOOD--  BPEREGRINO





























































































































AP300R                                YEAR-TO-DATE ACCOUNTS PAYABLE PREPAID/COMPUTER CHECK REGISTER   RUN 10/29/24          PAGE   1
*** CHECK DATES 08/01/2024 - 09/30/2024 ***       RIDGEWOOD TRAILS - CAP RES

BANK D RIDGEWOOD TRAILS

  CHECK  VEND#  .....INVOICE..... ...EXPENSED TO...              VENDOR NAME             STATUS             AMOUNT    ....CHECK.....
   DATE           DATE   INVOICE   YRMO  DPT ACCT# SUB  SUBCLASS                                                      AMOUNT     #

 8/07/24 00035 7/16/24 W0409716 202407 600-53800-60100                                     *            1,430.52
PARKING LOT (7)LED LIGHTS

7/16/24 W0409716 202407 600-53800-60100                                     *              190.68
SLIPFITTER MOUNT (7)

1000BULBS.COM                                                   1,621.20 000035
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 9/03/24 00036 8/29/24 08292024 202409 600-53800-60000                                     *            8,105.50

SHED - 50% DEPOSIT
COASTAL SHEDS, LLC                                              8,105.50 000036

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 9/03/24 00036 8/29/24 08292024 202409 600-53800-60000                                     *            8,105.50

SHED - FINAL PAYMENT
COASTAL SHEDS, LLC                                              8,105.50 000037

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
 9/24/24 00037 9/19/24 39244    202409 600-53800-60000                                     *            7,798.00

(2) 95T INSPIRE TREADMILL
9/19/24 39244    202409 600-53800-60000                                     *            3,498.00

5 YEAR WARRANTY
9/19/24 39244    202409 600-53800-60000                                     *              749.00

SHIPPING & HANDLING
FITNESS SUPERSTORE, INC.                                       12,045.00 000038

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

TOTAL FOR BANK D                 29,877.20

TOTAL FOR REGISTER               29,877.20

RDGE --RIDGEWOOD--  BPEREGRINO








	Agenda
	III. Consideration of Resolution 2025-01, Classifying Surplus Property and Disposition (sale of treadmills)
	IV.       Acceptance of Fiscal Year 2023 Audit Report
	V.        Ratification of Agreement with Coastal Sheds, LLC
	VII.     Discussion of Parking & Towing Policy
	VIII. E.                1.   Report
	2.         Landscape Inspection Report
	X. A.        Approval of the Minutes of the September 4, 2024 Meeting
	B.        Balance Sheet & Income Statement
	C.        Assessment Receipt Schedule
	D.                                                                          Approval of Check Register



